

Elmesmari, Aziza Atiya (2009) *Influence of dietary antioxidants on luminal nitrite chemistry under conditions simulating the gastro-oesophageal junction.* MSc(R) thesis.

http://theses.gla.ac.uk/1230/

Copyright and moral rights for this thesis are retained by the Author

A copy can be downloaded for personal non-commercial research or study, without prior permission or charge

This thesis cannot be reproduced or quoted extensively from without first obtaining permission in writing from the Author

The content must not be changed in any way or sold commercially in any format or medium without the formal permission of the Author

When referring to this work, full bibliographic details including the author, title, awarding institution and date of the thesis must be given

Glasgow Theses Service http://theses.gla.ac.uk/ theses@gla.ac.uk

Influence of dietary antioxidants on luminal nitrite chemistry under conditions simulating the gastro-oesophageal junction.

Dr Aziza Atiya Elmesmari MBChB

A thesis submitted in fulfilment of the requirement for the Degree of M.Sc (Med.Sci.) by research

Section of Gastroenterology Division of Cardiovascular and Medical Sciences Graduate School, Faculty of Medicine University of Glasgow

April 2009

Abstract

The second half of the twenties century saw a sharp worldwide decline in the both incidence and mortality of gastric cancer. Despite this the condition remains the world's second leading cause of cancer mortality, second only to lung cancer. Although most gastric cancers arise in the antrum and body (non-cardia) of the stomach, the incidence of proximal tumours of the cardia and distal oesophagus have increased dramatically over the last fifty years throughout the world. This major change in the pattern of the disease suggests that gastric cancer (cardia versus non-cardia) is not one but two separate disorders with regard to cause and pathogenesis. Over the last fifty years there has been concern about luminal nitrite, derived from dietary nitrate, as a risk factor for upper gastro-intestinal malignancies. This has arisen from evidence that the salivary nitrite is rapidly converted to nitrosating species and (in the presence of ascorbic acid) nitric oxide (NO), which are both potentially mutagenics.

Thus this study aimed to investigate the influence of ascorbic acid (AA), sodium thiocyanate (NaSCN), oxygen (O_2) and pH (1.5, 2.5 and 3.0) on the nitrite chemistry in simulated gastric juice. Another aim of the present study was to investigate the influence of a range of water-soluble dietary phenolics antioxidants on the nitrite chemistry to compare their effect with that of ascorbic acid. The capacity of dietary phenolics and ascorbic acid to reduce the acidified nitrite to nitric oxide was also investigated under both aerobic and anaerobic conditions.

These studies were performed in a newly designed closed bench-top model reproducing the chemical environment occurring at the human gastro-oesophageal junction. Each of the experiments was performed with and without NaSCN at different pH values (1.5, 2.5 and 3.0) under both aerobic and anaerobic conditions. The studies were focused on the measurement of NO formation and O_2 consumption by electrochemical detection,

according to the antioxidant present in the system (ascorbic acid, ferulic acid, caffeic acid, gallic acid or chlorogenic acid, in a range of concentrations).

Nitric oxide production increased with increasing ascorbic acid concentration, and was greatest at the lowest pH of 1.5. The absence of oxygen in the system markedly increased nitric oxide levels in the presence of ascorbic acid, while the addition of NaSCN enhanced nitric oxide production and oxygen consumption. A different pattern of nitric oxide production was seen with the dietary phenolics compared with ascorbic acid. In addition, two different patterns of nitric oxide response were seen with ferulic acid and caffeic acid and another with gallic acid and chlorogenic acid. Ferulic and caffeic acids produced only a small initial increase in nitric oxide, which was not sustained under either aerobic or anaerobic conditions. In contrast, gallic and chlorogenic acids produced a much more marked rise in nitric oxide, which remained elevated under both aerobic and anaerobic conditions. The only phenolic experiment in which an equivalent concentration of nitric oxide to that with ascorbic acid was observed was with high concentration of gallic acid under anaerobic conditions.

These studies indicated that nitrite in the simulated GOJ environment is converted to varying extents to nitric oxide and factors influencing this include luminal pH, thiocyanate, oxygen tension and presence of antioxidants. We have also found that the capacity of antioxidants to convert acidified nitrite to nitric oxide varies as does the temporal profile of the nitric oxide concentration generated by them.

Table of Contents

Abstract	2
Table of Contents	4
List of Tables	
List of Figures	
Abbreviations	
Dedication	14
Acknowledgement	15
Declaration	17

Chapter 1 - Introduction

1.1 Anatomy and physiology of stomach		19	
1.2 Stomach pathologies		21	
1.3 Gastric and oesophageal adenocarcinoma		tric and oesophageal adenocarcinoma	24
1.3.	.1	Epidemiology	24
1.3.	.2	Aetiology	26
1.3.	.3	Risk factors of gastric and oesophagus adenocarcinoma	27
1.4 Luminal nitrosative chemistry		30	
1.4.	.1	Nitric oxide	30
1.4.	.2	Dietary nitrate and entero-salivary recirculation	31
1.4.	.3	Acid catalysed nitrosative stress	32
1.5	Inhi	bition of nitrosative stress by vitamin C	35
1.6	Diet	tary antioxidants	37
1.6	.1	Phenolics in the diet	37
1.6.	.2	Antioxidant capacities	38

1.7	Aim	39

5

Chapter 2 – Materials and Methods

2.1	Chemicals and reagents41		
2.2	2 The bench-top model4		1
2.3	2.3 Assay set-up42		
2.3.	1	Nitric oxide measurement4	4
2.3.2	2	Oxygen Measurement4	6
2.4 Sampling procedure 4		7	
2.4.	1	Ascorbic acid analysis4	8
2.5	Data	analysis4	8

Chapter 3 – Results and Discussions

O	VERVIE	W 51
3	.1 Nit	rite chemistry in the simulated gastric juice: effect of ascorbic acid 52
	3.1.1	Nitric oxide and dissolved oxygen levels following nitrite addition in the
	absence	of ascorbic acid52
	3.1.2	Nitric oxide levels following nitrite addition in presence of different
	concenti	rations of ascorbic acid53
	3.1.3	Dissolved oxygen levels following nitrite addition in presence of different
	concenti	rations of ascorbic acid 54
	3.1.4	Ascorbic acid measurements 55
	3.1.5	Discussion 56

3.2 Nitrite chemistry in the simulated gastric juice: effect of thiocyanate-----60

3.2.1	Nitric oxide and dissolved oxygen levels following nitrite addition in the	
abse	absence of ascorbic acid60	
3.2.2	2 Nitric oxide levels following nitrite addition in the presence of different	
conc	centrations of ascorbic acid61	
3.2.3	B Dissolved oxygen levels following nitrite addition in presence of different	
conc	centrations of ascorbic acid63	
3.2.4	Ascorbic acid measurements 65	
3.2.5	5 Discussion66	
3.3 2.5 and 3.3.1	Nitrite chemistry in the simulated gastric juice: effect of different pH values (1.5, 1 3.0)68 Nitric oxide and dissolved oxygen levels following nitrite addition in the	
pres	ence of different concentrations of ascorbic acid68	
3.3.2	2 Discussion 71	
3.4	Nitrite chemistry in the simulated gastric juice: effect of oxygen73	
3.4.1	Nitric oxide levels following nitrite addition inabsence of ascorbic acid 73	
3.4.2	2 Nitric oxide and dissolved oxygen levels following nitrite addition in	
pres	ence different concentration of ascorbic acid73	
3.4.3	Ascorbic acid measurements75	
3.4.4	4 Discussion 76	

3.5 Nitrite chemistry in the simulated gastric juice: effect of different conce	ntrations
of dietary phenolics in the presence of oxygen	78
3.5.1 At low concentration (250µM)	78

3.5.1.1 Nitric oxide and dissolved oxygen levels following nitrite addition in the
presence of caffeic acid, ferulic acid, chlorogenic acid and gallic acid individually
in comparison with ascorbic acid78
3.5.2 At high concentration (2000µM)80
3.5.2.1 Nitric oxide and dissolved oxygen levels following nitrite addition in the
presence of caffeic acid, ferulic acid, chlorogenic acid and gallic acid individually
in parallel with ascorbic acid80
3.6 Nitrite chemistry in the simulated gastric juice: effect of different concentrations
of dietary phenolics in the absence of oxygen82
3.6.1 Nitric oxide levels following nitrite addition in the presence of caffeic acid,
ferulic acid, chlorogenic acid and gallic acid individually, in compare with ascorbic
acid82
3.6.1.1 At low concentration (250µM)82
3.6.1.2 At high concentration (2000µM)82
3.6.2 Discussion85

Chapter 4 - Conclusion

General conclusion	90
--------------------	----

References

List of Tables

- **Table 3.1:** Ascorbic acid consumed (%) in the simulated gastric juice (NaSCN, pH 1.5), following nitrite addition (100μM) in the presence of ascorbic acid 100μM, 500μM or 2000μM over 60 minutes incubation, under aerobic conditions. Values are presented as mean of two experiments.. -----55
- Table 3.2: Thiocyanate effect on ascorbic acid consumption (%) in the simulated gastric juice pH 1.5 under aerobic condition, following nitrite addition (100μM) in presence of ascorbic acid 100μM, 500μM or 2000μM over 60 minutes incubation. Values are presented as mean of two experiments. -----65
- **Table 3.3:** Ascorbic acid consumed (%) in the simulated gastric juice (NaSCN, pH 1.5), following nitrite addition (100μM) in the presence of ascorbic acid 100μM, 500μM or 2000μM over 60 minutes incubation, under both aerobic and anaerobic conditions. Values are presented as mean of two experiments. -----75

List of Figures

Figure 1.1: Anatomy and histology of the stomach is described the stomach and its
subdivision (A), cut section shows the muscular layers and internal anatomy (B) and
stomach wall histology (C)19
Figure 1.2: Histological classification of gastric adenocarcinoma, the diffuse type (A), and
intestinal type (B)23
Figure 1.3: Age- standardised incidence of adenocarcinoma of oesophagus (A) and gastric
cardia (B) cancer Solid black line adenocarcinoma in male; dashed line
adenocarcinoma in female25
Figure 1.4:. Actiology of upper GIT adenocarcinoma (cardia versus non cardia)26
Figure 1.5: Dietary nitrate and entero-salivary recirculation, 25% of dietary nitrate is re-
circulated, taken up by salivary glands and reduced to nitrite by the reducing bacteria
on the dorsum of the tongue. The nitrite in the swallowed saliva is immediately
converted to nitrous acid and nitrosating species such as N_2O_3 , NO^+ encounter acidic
gastric juice. Further reaction with ascorbic acid takes place to produce nitric oxide
and the former is oxidised to dehydroascorbic acid. The gastric cardia is where the
nitrite in saliva first meets gastric acid, however, in patients with GORD the reactant
site is the distal oesophagus33

- Figure 2.1: The bench-top model, (A) photograph and (B) diagram, representing the human GOJ, to study the chemical reaction occurring when nitrite encounters the simulated gastric juice.-----42
- **Figure 2.2:** Calibration of nitric oxide probe, (A) by adding successive bolus dose of 50µl NaNO₂ to sulphuric acid (0.1M) containing potassium iodide (0.1M), and (B)

obtaining a linear response between electrical signal of NO (volts) and NO concentration (μ M). ------45

- **Figure 2.3:** Calibration of oxygen probe, (A) the arrow is indicates the time of the addition of NaSCN, AA, and NaNO₂ and (B) obtaining a linear response between electrical signals of O₂ (volts) andO₂ levels (%). ------46
- Figure 3.1: Nitric oxide levels (μM) (squares) and dissolved oxygen levels (%) (triangles) in the simulated gastric juice (NaSCN, pH 1.5) following nitrite addition (100μM) at t=10 min, in absence of ascorbic acid under aerobic condition. Values are presented as mean of two experiments. -----52
- **Figure 3.2:** Nitric oxide levels (μM) in the simulated gastric juice (NaSCN, pH 1.5), following nitrite addition (100μM) at t=10 min, in presence of ascorbic acid 100μM (squares), 500μM (triangles) or 2000μM (circles) under aerobic condition. Values are presented as mean of two experiments.-----53
- Figure 3.3: Dissolved oxygen levels (%) in the simulated gastric juice (NaSCN, pH1.5), following nitrite addition (100μM) at t=10 min, in presence of ascorbic acid 100μM (squares), 500μM (triangles) or 2000μM (circles). Values are presented as mean of two experiments.-----54
- **Figure 3.4:** Effect of thiocyanate, presence (A) or absence (B) on nitric oxide levels (μM) (squares) and dissolved oxygen (%) (triangles) in the simulated gastric juice, following nitrite addition (100μM) at t=10 min, in absence of ascorbic acid. Values are presented as mean of two experiments. -----60
- Figure 3.5: Nitric oxide levels (μM) on in the simulated gastric juice at pH1.5 on absence of thiocyanate (triangles) and presence (squares), following nitrite addition (100μM) at t=10min, in the presence of ascorbic acid 100μM (A), 500μM (B) or 2000μM (C) under aerobic condition. Values are presented as mean of two experiments.-----62
- **Figure 3.6:** Dissolved oxygen levels (%) in the simulated gastric juice on absence of thiocyanate (triangles) and presence (squares), following nitrite addition (100μM) at

t=10 min, in the presence of ascorbic acid 100μM (A), 500μM (B) and 2000μM (C). Values are presented as mean of two experiments. -----64

- Figure 3.7: Nitric oxide levels (μM) in the simulated gastric juice (NaSCN, aerobic condition), of different pH values pH 1.5 (squares), 2.5 (triangles) and 3.0 (circles), following nitrite addition (100μM) at t=10 min, in the presence of ascorbic acid 100μM (A), 500μM (B) or 2000μM (C). Values are presented as mean of two experiments. ------69
- Figure 3.8: Dissolved oxygen levels (%) in the simulated gastric juice (NaSCN, under aerobic condition), of different pH values pH 1.5 (squares), 2.5 (triangles) and 3.0 (circles), following nitrite addition (100μM) at t=10 min, in the presence of ascorbic acid 100μM (A), 500μM (B) or 2000μM (C). Values are presented as mean of two experiments. ------70
- Figure 3.9: Nitric oxide levels (μM) in the simulated gastric juice (NaSCN, pH 1.5) under aerobic (squares) and anaerobic (triangles), conditions, following nitrite addition (100μM) at t=10min, in the presence of ascorbic acid 100μM (A), 500μM (B) or 2000μM (C). Values are presented as mean of two experiments. -----74
- Figure 3.10: Effect of presence of 250μM ferulic acid (squares), caffeic acid (triangles), gallic acid (open circles), chlorogenic acid (circles) or ascorbic acid (open squares) on nitric oxide levels (μM) in the simulated gastric juice, following nitrite addition (100μM) at t=10 min, under aerobic conditions. Values are presented as mean of two experiments. ------79
- Figure 3.11: Effect of presence of 250μM ferulic acid (squares), caffeic acid (triangles), gallic acid (open circles), chlorogenic acid (circles) or ascorbic acid (open squares) on dissolved oxygen levels (%) in the simulated gastric juice, following nitrite addition (100μM) at t=10 min. Values are presented as mean of two experiments.-----79
- **Figure 3.12** Effect of presence of 2000µM ferulic acid (squares), caffeic acid (triangles), gallic acid (open circles), chlorogenic acid (circles) or ascorbic acid (open squares) on

- Figure 3.13 Effect of presence of 2000μM ferulic acid (squares), caffeic acid (triangles), gallic acid (open circles), chlorogenic acid (circles) or ascorbic acid (open squares) on dissolved oxygen levels (%) in the simulated gastric juice, following nitrite addition (100μM) at t=10 min. Values are presented as mean of two experiments.-----81
- **Figure 3.15** Nitric oxide levels (μ M) in the simulated gastric juice, following nitrite addition (100 μ M) at t=10 min, in presence 2000 μ M of ferulic acid (squares), caffeic acid (triangles), gallic acid (open circles), (circles) or ascorbic acid (open squares) under anaerobic condition. Values are presented as mean of two experiments.------84

Abbreviations

AA	— Ascorbic acid
CA	— Caffeic acid
CC	- Pearson correlation coefficient
CGA	— Chlorogenic acid
DHA	— Dehydroascorbic acid
DTT	— Dithiothreitol
EDTA	— Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
FA	— Ferulic acid
GA	— Gallic acid
GIT	- Gastro-intestinal tract
GOJ	- Gastro-oesophageal junction
GORD	- Gastro-oesophageal reflux disease
HCl	— Hydrochloric acid
HLPC	- High performance liquid chromatography
HNO ₂	— Nitrous acid
NaSCN	— Sodium thiocyanate
RNS	- Reactive nitrogen species
NO	— Nitric oxide
NO ₂	— Nitrite
N_2O_3	— Dinitrogen trioxide
ROS	- Reactive oxygen species
NOSCN	— Nitroso thiocyanate
mg	— Mill gram
Min	— Minutes
mL	— Mill liter
MPA	— Metaphosphoric acid
SA	— Sulfamic acid
TVC	— Total vitamin C
V	— Voltage
μΜ	- Micromoles
%	— Percentage

Dedication

Unreservedly - to my parents, Fatma Elmesmari and Atyia Elmesmari.

Acknowledgement

I have been extremely privileged to have been able to carry out my postgraduate studies within the Division of Cardiovascular and Medical Sciences at Glasgow University.

This thesis would not have been completed without the support and encouragement of my family, many friends and colleagues; and to all of them I convey *many thanks indeed*.

I would like to primarily thank Professor Kenneth E. L. McColl, my Supervisor, whose expert knowledge and leadership assisted me greatly, and which I learned a lot from. His excellent advice, thoughtful comments and knowledgeable guidance during my research study and writing were invaluable.

My special thanks go to Dr Emilie Combet, for giving her time, assistance and professional guidance in regard to both the laboratory studies and advice on writing of my work.

A debt of gratitude is owed to the Libyan Government for the financial support, also. I am greatly beholden to my home country, Libya, from which I received this opportunity to complete my postgraduate studies at Glasgow University

My gratitude to Ms. Dorothy Ronney, who always provided me with great help and encouragement throughout the study period.

Many thanks to Mrs Valerie Fyfe for her most welcomed assistance in the technical lab analysis.

I extend my gratitude to professor Fakhri Akhleifa for his encouragement and supportive comments and to Professor Alan Jardine, for always being there as my Adviser.

I have enjoyed working with my many colleagues and wish to express my appreciation to them for their advice and encouragement, especially Anne McGarrity, Mohammad Derakhshan, Myzoon Ali, Alison Faichney and Judith Harriman.

And finally my sincere gratitude goes to my family Of course without my parents, Fatma Elmesmari and Atyia Elmesmari, this thesis could not have been written.... *Thank you*.

Declaration

All investigations in this thesis were undertaken by the author under the supervision of Professor Kenneth E.L. McColl within the Division of Cardiovascular and Medical Sciences, University of Glasgow from May 2007 until April 2009.

Chapter 1 - Introduction

1.1 Anatomy and physiology of stomach

The stomach is a **J**-shaped muscular bag located in the left upper part of the abdominal cavity mainly in the left hypochondrial, epigastric and umbilical regions, which has two openings: the cardia and the pylorus ⁽¹⁻³⁾. These openings join the stomach with the oesophagus proximally and with the duodenum distally to form the gastro-oesophageal junction and gastro-duodenal junction respectively (Figure 1.1A). The former lies 2.5 cm to the left of mid line at the level of T 10 vertebra, and the latter lies to the right of mid line at the level of T 10 vertebra, and the latter lies to the right of mid line at the level of L 1vertebra⁽¹⁻³⁾.

The stomach is completely invested by peritoneum to form the lesser and greater omenta that contain the vascular and lymphatic supply⁽³⁾.



Figure 1.1:Anatomy and histology of the stomach is described the stomach and its subdivision (A), cut section shows the muscular layers and internal anatomy (B) and stomach wall histology (C) $^{(4)}$.

The stomach has four anatomically distinct areas, each containing different types of histological cell. The cardia, distal to the gastro-oesophageal junction (GOJ), predominantly consists of simple tubular glands lined by mucus secreting cells, numerous endocrine cells, and a few acid secreting cells ^(1, 5-7). The fundus is the uppermost part of the stomach, occupying the area above the opening of oesophagus into the stomach (above the gastro-oesophageal junction). The body is the largest part of the stomach, representing about two third of gastric area. The glands of the fundus and body consist of a range of secretary cells:

- parietal cells mainly in the upper part of the gland, which in addition to acid also produces intrinsic factor and blood group substances;

- chief cells mostly located in the lower part of gland, which are the main source of pepsinogen and proteolytic enzymes. In addition to these cells the body mucosa also contains some mucus neck cells and endocrine cells, the latter producing histamine in response to gastrin ^(1, 5-7).

The pyloric antrum represents the lower third of the stomach and has a funnel shaped appearance. Its wide part connects to the stomach whereas the narrowing portion connects the stomach with the pyloric canal. The gland of the pylorus consists of cell secreting mucus and gastrin hormone and occasionally parietal cells ^(1, 5-7).

The stomach wall is composed of four different layers, which are arranged from inside to outside. These are the mucosa, sub mucosa, muscularis layer, and serosa (Figure 1.1C). The stomach mucosa is an entirely tubular glandular form, with a variety of secretary cells, these cells differ from one to another anatomical sub-division described before. In general, the gastric mucosa has two components - the surface epithelium and its pits (foveolae) and the glandular structure. The surface epithelium and the pits appear throughout the stomach wall and are lined by mucus-secreting columnar cells which also secrete bicarbonate and sodium ions. The glandular component differs in the thickness and type of the cells from

one region to another. For example, the foveolae zone of cardiac and pyloric is the half thickness of the mucosa, while the glandular component in the fundus and body is much thicker than the foveolar zone ⁽⁵⁻⁸⁾.

The stomach sub mucosa is composed entirely of a thick sheet of connective tissue, which provides elasticity to the stomach. It contains many vascular and lymphatic vessels as well as sub mucosal nerve plexus ⁽⁶⁻⁸⁾. In addition to the standard pattern of wall structure which is present throughout the digestive tract, longitudinal and circular muscle layers, the stomach wall has a third layer of oblique muscles, or muscular layer ⁽⁵⁻⁸⁾. The serosa is the outer layer of the stomach wall and consists of supporting connective tissue, the inner layer of fibrous tissue provides structural support while the epithelial tissue "mesothelium", secrets a watery lubricant fluid ⁽⁶⁻⁸⁾.

1.2 **Stomach pathologies**

The stomach, like any other organ in the body, can experience both benign and malignant tumours. Adenocarcinoma are much more common than any other malignant tumours (such as carinoid tumours, malignant stromal tumours and lymphoma) or benign tumours (8-10)

Adenocarcinoma have been divided histologically into two main types; the diffuse and intestinal types ⁽¹¹⁾. The diffuse type adenocarcinoma consists of sheets of neoplastic cells with minimal gland formation which leads to a significant thickening of the gastric wall. The development of the diffuse cancer is correlated with genetic factors, is more common in the younger population, and has a male to female ratio of 1:1. Unfortunately this type of adenocarcinoma carries a bad prognosis and survival rate is lower than the intestinal type tumours ⁽⁸⁻¹²⁾ (Figure 1.2A).

Intestinal type adenocarcinoma, on the other hand, shows glandular formation similar to that of colonic adenocarcinoma. This intestinal sub-type of adenocarcinoma is also associated with the presence of metaplastic intestinal epithelium, tends to be more common in countries presenting high-incidence of gastric cancer, and significantly correlates with environmental factors such as *H. pylori*-associated chronic gastritis. Furthermore, the intestinal type is more common in males than females; with a ratio of 2:1, and the mean age of patients is 55 years ⁽⁸⁻¹²⁾. However, some tumours show features of both types and are more difficult to categorise ⁽¹¹⁾ (Figure 1.2B).

Recently, gastric cancer has been sub-classified according to the intra- gastric anatomical site. It either arises from the proximal region of the stomach (cardia) or more distal part (non cardia) ⁽¹³⁻¹⁵⁾. Most gastric cancer arises in the antrum and body (non cardia) of the stomach, however, the incidence of proximal tumours of the cardia and the gastro-oesophageal junction has increased dramatically over the last 25 years ⁽¹⁶⁻¹⁸⁾.

These changes in the pattern of stomach malignancies throughout the world is not merely to be related to changes in tumour classification, change in diagnostic methods or an increased general awareness of this disease aetiology and epidemiology ^{(14, 19).} It is possible to conclude that gastric cancer (cardia versus non-cardia) is not one but two separate disorders with regard to cause and pathogenesis ⁽¹⁴⁾.

(A)



(B)



Figure 1.2: Histological classification of gastric adenocarcinoma, the diffuse type (A), and intestinal type (B) $^{(20)}$.

1.3 Gastric and oesophageal adenocarcinoma

1.3.1 Epidemiology

In spite of a steady decline in the overall incidence of gastric cancer, observed in most countries in the last decades, incidences of cardia cancer have increased in recent years ^(16-18, 21). Meanwhile, the overall incidence of oesophageal cancer (including oesophageal squamous cell carcinoma) has decreased throughout the last thirty years; while adenocarcinoma of the distal oesophagus has increased dramatically in most Western countries as well as in some other countries over the worlds ^(16-18, 21). Thus gastric cancer and oesophageal cancers still remain the second and the sixth leading cause of cancer-related death, respectively ^(19, 22) (Figure 1.3A and B).

Gastric and oesophageal adenocarcinoma, similar to most other GI malignancies, are the diseases of older age groups in most countries. The mean age at diagnosis is 63 years and the risk increases with increasing age ^(19, 22). The diseases predominantly affect men and white patients twice as often as black patients ^(14, 19, 23). Furthermore, in relation to sub-site distribution, Roder (2002) states that the percentage of gastric cancers sited in the cardia, as opposed to more distal specified sub site, was 31.7 % for males and 18.8 % for females, with higher percentages applying to male than females in each region ⁽²⁴⁾.

The geographical variation of oesophagus and cardia adenocarcinoma differs between countries. In developed countries, the incidence of distal stomach cancer has decreased, while stomach cancer in the most proximal cardia region and GOJ has increased substantially. According to a review of literature, the highest incidence has been reported in the United Kingdom, Australia, and United States. However, low incidence has also been reported in Eastern Europe and Scandinavia ^(14, 19).

24



0.01



1962-66 1967-71 1972-76 1977-81 1982-86 unavailable 1992-96

Figure 1.3: Age- standardised incidence of adenocarcinoma of oesophagus (A) and gastric cardia (B) cancer Solid black line adenocarcinoma in male; dashed line adenocarcinoma in female ⁽¹⁸⁾.

1.3.2 Aetiology

The reasons for the sharp increase in the incidence of adenocarcinoma of the oesophagus and the gastric cardia over the past fifty years are still unknown. However, one explanation for these similar trends may be that the adenocarcinoma of the oesophagus and the gastric cardia share at least some aetiological factors ^(18, 25-27).

Cancer of the oesophagus and gastric cardia differs from cancer of the more distal stomach ^(21, 28-31) (Figure 1.4). The cancer of the distal stomach develops against a background of atrophic gastritis and hypochlorhydria, usually due to *H. pylori* infection and is more common amongst those from lower socioeconomic classes ^(29, 31). In contrast, the cancer of GOJ and cardia occurs in patients with healthy acid secreting mucosa, normal secretary function, who are usually *H. Pylori* negative, and are more in the professional social class population ^(21, 28-31).



Aetiology of Upper GI Adenocarcinoma

Figure 1.4:. Aetiology of upper GIT adenocarcinoma (cardia versus non cardia).

1.3.3 Risk factors of gastric and oesophagus adenocarcinoma

The pathogenesis of gastric cancer in general, and adenocarcinoma of the oesophagus and gastric cardia in particular, are complex with multiple steps and multi-factorial processes. However, the disease is the end-result of cellular and molecular changes triggered by endogenous and environmental factors ^(32, 33). The mutagen responsible remains unknown, but important clues have been established and are discussed below ⁽³⁴⁾.

Gastro-oesophageal reflux

Gastro-oesophageal reflux is a strong risk factor in the development of adenocarcinoma of the oesophagus ^(19, 35). Chronic exposure to gastric and bile acid leads to progressive damage and changes to the squamous mucosa of the oesophagus and causes its replacement by metaplastic columnar mucosa. The longstanding damage caused by gastric and bile reflux to the oesophageal squamous mucosa transforms it to gastric columnar mucosa, then into intestinal mucosa followed by dysplasia and finally adenocarcinoma ^(14, 36). However, the sequence of events leading to oesophageal adenocarcinoma is not mandatory for the development of the disease, although large cohort studies have established a strong association between reflux disease and oesophageal adenocarcinoma ⁽³⁷⁾

The aetiology of adenocarcinoma of gastric cardia remains unknown; however, it may have a similar aetiology to oesophageal adenocarcinoma ^(18, 25-27). Many studies have shown there are weak associations between the reflux disease and adenocarcinoma of cardia ^(35, 37). However, recently several studies have established that cardia cancer might arise from the distal segment of the oesophagus mucosa when this segment is exposed to acid but the oesophageal sphincter does not allow the acid to reflux into the main body of the oesophagus^(14, 38).

This explanation suggests that cardia cancer might resemble the oesophageal adenocarcinoma, and therefore may have at least two different aetiological factors.

• Helicobacter pylori infection

Recent studies have indicated that infection with *H. pylori* might be inversely associated with the risk of adenocarcinoma of the oesophagus and gastric cardia ⁽³⁹⁾. However, this association between the *H. pylori* infection and adenocarcinoma of the cardia is much weaker than that of between *H. pylori* infection and oesophageal adenocarcinoma ^(40, 41). The postulated mechanism for the protective effect might be that infection could reduce the occurrence of acidic reflux by introducing atrophic gastritis, which in turn would reduce the harmful effects of acidity in the oesophagus ⁽⁴²⁾. Moreover, the eradication of *H. pylori* infection in individuals might lead to an increase in the incidence of oesophageal adenocarcinoma. However, the causal relation between the two remains unclear ⁽¹⁹⁾.

The association between *H. pylori* infection and gastric cancer may vary by the anatomical site; many studies have demonstrated that *H. pylori* infection is associated with a risk of non-cardia cancer $^{(31, 40, 43)}$. However, the association with adenocarcinoma of gastric cardia is very complex and some studies have pointed out that *H. pylori* infection is not involved in the aetiology of cardia cancer $^{(40, 41)}$. In contrast, other studies have confirmed there is an inverse association between the *H. pylori* infection particularly $cagA^+$ strains, and adenocarcinoma of gastric cardia $^{(39, 44, 45)}$. Furthermore, recent studies have examined the relationship between the intra-gastric location of cancer, *H. pylori* infection, and atrophic gastritis $^{(44)}$. These studies have confirmed that there is a strong association between *H. pylori* infection and atrophic gastritis and cancer of non cardia. However, a significant negative association between *H. pylori* are at an increased risk for gastric cardia cancer particularly if they had atrophic gastritis $^{(44)}$.

This view is consistent with the fact that cardia cancer is a complex disease and has at least two distinct aetiologies ⁽⁴⁶⁾. One type resembles non-cardia cancer being associated with *H*. *pylori* infection and atrophic gastritis. The other type resembles the oesophageal adenocarcinoma and this type is shown to have a negative association with *H. pylori* infection and is more likely to be due to short segment gastro-oesophageal reflux disease ⁽¹⁴⁾

Moreover, there is geographical variation between the *H. pylori* infection and gastric cardia cancer. For example, there is a strong negative association between *H. pylori* infection and cardia cancer in Western countries, while there is a positive association between *H. pylori* infection and cardia cancer in China and other Eastern countries ⁽⁴⁰⁾.

• Luminal chemistry of the gastric cardia

Recently many studies have pointed out that the luminal chemistry of the cardia region is different from the rest of the stomach. For example, the post-prandial acidity of gastric juice is decreased in the body of the stomach due to the buffering effect of food. However, the GOJ and gastric cardia are escape the buffering effect of meals and remain highly acidic compared to the body of the stomach. Thus the acidity of gastric cardia would facilitate the chemical reaction occur at low pH ⁽⁴⁷⁾. The formation of nitrosating species and *N*-nitroso compounds from salivary nitrite, derived from dietary nitrate, in the acidic environment of the stomach is maximal at the cardia region ^{(48-50).} These *N*-nitroso compounds are potential pre-carcinogens for the oesophagus and stomach in animals models ⁽⁵¹⁾. Ascorbic acid, actively secreted in gastric juice, provides protection by converting nitrosating species to nitric oxide ⁽⁵²⁻⁵⁴⁾. The luminal generation of nitric oxide (the reaction between nitrosating species and ascorbic acid) is maximal at GOJ and gastric cardia ^(50, 55-57). Nitric oxide is known to be mutagenic through its ability to react rapidly with oxygen to form N₂O₃, which can damage DNA directly via deamination of bases or indirectly through generation of *N*-nitroso compounds ⁽⁵⁸⁻⁶¹⁾. Moreover, nitric oxide can

inhibit a number of DNA repair enzymes ⁽⁶²⁾. Furthermore at this anatomical site the nitrite:ascorbic acid ratio is higher than any other region of the stomach ⁽⁴⁸⁾. There is also a substantial concentration of thiocyanate, which is an important catalyst in this chemistry ⁽⁴⁸⁾. All of these observations indicate that the GOJ and cardia region of stomach are likely to be regions of high nitrosative stress; mechanisms may contribute to a high incidence of metaplasia and neoplasia at these anatomical sites.

1.4 Luminal nitrosative chemistry

1.4.1 Nitric oxide

Nitric oxide is an important free radical playing a significant role in various biological events. In general, nitric oxide has beneficial regulatory functions in cardiovascular, immune and nervous system ⁽⁶³⁻⁶⁵⁾. Nitric oxide is involved in the regulation of gastric mucosa blood flow, mucus secretion and gastric motility, as well as being implicated in gastrin and gastric acid secretion ⁽⁶⁶⁻⁶⁸⁾. Furthermore, it has an important antimicrobial activity against a large variety of pathogenic micro-organisms ⁽⁶⁹⁻⁷¹⁾. However, imbalance of this biological molecule secretion is implicated in a number of different diseases such as hypertension, arteriosclerosis, diabetes and neurodegenerative disorders ^(63, 65, 72, 73).

Nitric oxide is produced from the amino acid L- arginine by the enzyme NO synthase and there are three isoforms of nitric oxide synthase enzyme⁽⁷⁴⁾. Nitric oxide is generated at low concentration (constitutive nitric oxide synthase) by endothelial type (e NOS) neuronal type (n NOS) to modulate neuromuscular and vascular function. While the inducible form NO synthase (i NOS) produced nitric oxide at high concentration in order to influence the immune and inflammatory response ^(74, 75). The nitric oxide generated by the inducible form has been implicated in the aetiology of mutagenesis and neoplasia related to chronic inflammation ⁽⁷⁶⁾.

Over the last decades, in addition to enzymatic production another alternative pathway (non enzymatic) has been described, which generated large concentration of nitric oxide in the stomach ^(57, 77). Nitric oxide arises from the reduction of nitrite, derived from enterosalivary recirculation of dietary nitrate, to nitrosating species and nitric oxide (in presence of ascorbic acid) under the acidic condition of the stomach ^(53-55, 57).

1.4.2 Dietary nitrate and entero-salivary recirculation.

Over the last two decades, there has been concern about the role of luminal nitrite in the aetiology of human gastro-oesophageal junction and gastric cardia malignancies.^(49, 78) This arises from the fact that the acidic environment of the stomach converts nitrite in the saliva to nitrous acid and nitrosating species ^(28, 49, 78). These nitrosating species can generate potentially carcinogenic *N*-nitroso compounds through their ability to react with secondary amines and amides ^(28, 49, 78). The major source of nitrite in gastric juice of the healthy stomach is swallowed saliva, which in turn is derived mainly from the entero-salivary recirculation of dietary nitrate^(79, 80). The main dietary source of nitrate is green leafy vegetables; after ingestion nitrate is rapidly absorbed from the small intestine into the blood and it reaches its maximum plasma concentration after sixty minutes from ingestion. Most of the nitrate is excreted in the urine, while only about 20-30% of all nitrates (from dietary source or produced endogenously) is re-circulated and taken up by the salivary glands and secreted into the mouth ^(79, 81-84). The nitrate-reducing bacteria on the dorsum of the tongue reduce at least 25% of that nitrate to nitrite (Figure 1.5)^(83, 85, 86). Approximately 1500 ml of saliva is swallowed every 24 hours, containing high concentrations of nitrite as a consequence of the reduction of dietary nitrate. Under fasting conditions, the nitrite concentration of saliva is approximately 50 µM and this increase to 200 µM after ingestion of a nitrate-rich meal (79, 83, 87, 88).

1.4.3 Acid catalysed nitrosative stress

When the nitrite-rich saliva reaches the stomach and encounters the acidic gastric juice, nitrite is rapidly converted to nitrous acid and nitrosating species such as N₂O₃, NO^{+ (28, 49, 78)}. The latter reacts with thiocyanate (SCN), which is derived from the diet (milk and vegetables) and also secreted by salivary glands, at a considerable concentration, to form the particularly potent nitrosating species NOSCN ⁽⁸⁹⁻⁹²⁾. In addition, thiocyanate is secreted directly into the gastric juice ⁽⁸⁹⁾. Thiocyanate concentration in saliva is much higher in smokers than non-smokers as a consequence of the detoxication of cyanide compounds in tobacco ⁽⁹³⁾. These nitrosating species can react with a variety of organic nitrogenous compounds to regenerate potentially carcinogenic *N*-nitroso compounds ^(49, 78).

Over the last two decades, *N*-nitroso compounds have been used as carcinogens in animal models of the GOJ and gastric cardia of the stomach ⁽⁹⁴⁾. In addition, these nitrosating species can trigger oxidative stress in gastric mucosa by inducing more consumption of local antioxidants; this mechanism may be relevant to upper gastrointestinal tract malignancies ^(48, 53).

The main factor protecting against the formation of the *N*-nitroso compounds, formed by the reaction between the nitrosating species and intra-gastric amines and amides, is ascorbic acid ^(52, 54, 95-97). Ascorbic acid actively competes with secondary amines and amides for nitrosating species, preventing nitrosation ^(54, 98-100). In this reaction, ascorbic acid reacts with nitrosating species and the latter is reduced to nitric oxide and the former oxidized to dehydro ascorbic acid ^(52-54, 101). Stoichiometrically, one molecule of ascorbic acid should convert two molecules of nitrite in acidic conditions to nitric oxide ⁽¹⁰²⁾.



Figure 1.5: Dietary nitrate and entero-salivary recirculation, 25% of dietary nitrate is re-circulated, taken up by salivary glands and reduced to nitrite by the reducing bacteria on the dorsum of the tongue. The nitrite in the swallowed saliva is immediately converted to nitrous acid and nitrosating species such as N_2O_3 , NO^+ when encounter acidic gastric juice. Further reaction with ascorbic acid takes place to produce nitric oxide and the former is oxidised to dehydroascorbic acid. The gastric cardia is where the nitrite in saliva first meets gastric acid, however, in patients with GORD the reactant site is the distal oesophagus ⁽⁸⁷⁾.

Previous studies have reported that the active luminal nitrite chemistry takes place where the reactants first meet (i.e. when the nitrite in saliva encounters acidic gastric juice) ^(48, 87). In the healthy acid-secreting stomach, the gastric cardia is the site where nitrite in saliva first meets gastric acid. However, in the patient with gastro-oesophageal reflux disease, the reaction site is moved proximally. Thus, the distal oesophagus instead of the cardia region has the highest concentration of nitrosating species and nitric oxide where the refluxing gastric acid meets the saliva ^(48, 55, 87, 103). In addition, at these anatomical locations there is maximum local consumption of antioxidants in gastric juice, particularly ascorbic acid, as a result of active luminal chemistry ⁽⁵³⁾.

It is also important to highlight the chemical environment of proximal gastric cardia and GOJ which may be relevant to high incidence of mutagenesis and neoplasia. Firstly at these locations, the nitrite to ascorbic acid ratio is high. Secondly, there is an adequate concentration of thiocyanate, which is an important catalytic agent for the nitrite conversion reaction, consequently causing the more rapid consumption of ascorbic acid. Thirdly, oxygen tension, swallowed food is the main source of oxygen delivered into the stomach; in addition to the epithelial cells, which are contains oxygen as well. In the presence of oxygen nitric oxide re-forms nitrosating species and this recycling pathway will continue until either the oxygen or ascorbic acid is completely consumed. Finally, gastric juice acidity is an important factor for the conversion reaction of nitrite to nitrosating species and it increases the rate of the recycling pathway ^(48, 53, 55, 87, 103, 104).

This suggests that in the healthy acid secreting stomach, the gastric cardia of the stomach is most fulfilling these criteria, while in patients with GORD the distal oesophagus is the optimal site. Indeed this might contribute to the high incidence of metaplasia and neoplasia in the proximal region of stomach and GOJ.

Therefore, an investigation of the influence of ascorbic acid, thiocyanate, oxygen tension, and different pH values on nitrite chemistry at the human GOJ was important.

1.5 Inhibition of nitrosative stress by vitamin C

Vitamin C is one of the most essential vitamins for good human health, as it plays an important role in numerous biological systems and also has a protective effect against carcinogenesis processes in many cells ⁽¹⁰⁵⁾. It acts as co-factors for many enzymes, which are involved in the synthesis of hormones, neurotransmitters, collagen, and other substances ⁽¹⁰⁶⁾. In addition, several studies have confirmed that it is one of the most important antioxidants in the aqueous fluid of most living tissues, as it neutralises the reactive oxygen and nitrogen species ^(99, 107, 108).

Vitamin C has two major forms: ascorbic acid (AA) and dehydroascorbic acid (DHA), and both of these forms have vitamin C activity and are inter-convertible by redox chemistry ⁽¹⁰⁹⁾. Under fasting conditions vitamin C is present in gastric juice mainly in the reduced form, ascorbic acid^(54, 110) and is a potent antioxidant known to prevent gastric carcinogenesis through it ability to quench free radicals and inhibit nitrosamine formation^(101, 111, 112).

However, little is known about the regulation of ascorbic acid secretion by gastric mucosa, other than that it is concentrated in the gastric mucosa and then actively secreted into gastric juice reaching a concentration of 20-300 μ M ^(52, 54, 113, 114). Many factors affect the ascorbic acid concentration in gastric juice, for example, elevated pH of the gastric juice; chronic gastritis and infection with *H. pylori* significantly reduce the ascorbic acid concentration in gastric juice ^(54, 115, 116).
The main protective effect of ascorbic acid is not only that it neutralises the harmful DNA damaging effect caused by free radicals generated by *H. pylori* infection or smoking ^(117, 118). Ascorbic acid reduces *N*-nitroso compounds formation by actively competing with secondary amines and amides for reaction with nitrosating species ^(54, 98-100, 112). Ascorbic acid has a protective effect against gastric carcinogenesis through its ability to quench nitrosating species as well as inhibiting *N*-nitroso compounds formation in gastric juice.

However, it has been recognised that the luminal nitric oxide can react with oxygen and reform nitrosating species, which can react with any remaining ascorbic acid ^(61, 104, 119, 120). The rate of the reaction between nitric oxide and oxygen is increased by increasing the nitric oxide concentration, as it is related to the concentration of oxygen and the square of the nitric oxide concentration ⁽⁶¹⁾. The recycling of nitric oxide in the presence of oxygen to re-form the nitrosating species continues until the ascorbic acid is depleted and this induces more nitrosative stress ^(48, 50, 104). Moreover, the nitrosating species such as N₂O₃ are potentially carcinogenic compound directly through their ability to deaminate DNA bases or indirectly by forming of *N*- nitroso compounds ⁽⁵⁸⁻⁶⁰⁾. Furthermore, nitric oxide in high concentration is shown to be mutagenic via the inhibition of a number of DNA repair enzymes ⁽⁶²⁾.

However, recent studies have demonstrated that ascorbic acid may promote the nitrosation reaction within the epithelial lipid compartment despite inhibiting nitrosation within the luminal compartment ^(53, 121). This due to that the nitric oxide generated by the reaction between salivary nitrite and ascorbic acid diffusing into adjacent epithelial cells and lipid compartments and reacting there with oxygen to generate N_2O_3 ^(56, 57, 61). Indeed, the rate of reaction between the nitric oxide and oxygen is more rapid within the lipid than the aqueous compartment because both are more soluble in lipid than aqueous solutions ^(60, 122). Thus, the presence of the lipid transforms the effect of ascorbic acid from a protecting against to promoting nitrosation ⁽¹²¹⁾. The presence of lipid significantly alters acid

catalysed nitrosative chemistry (Figure 1.6). The lipid converts the effect of ascorbic acid from a inhibiting to promoting *N*-nitroso compounds formation. The ascorbic acid completely inhibits *N*-nitrosamines formation in the aqueous phase but not in the presence of the lipid $^{(121)}$.

Thus, other dietary antioxidants such as dietary phenolics have attracted considerable attention in recent years, as a consequence of ascorbic acid poor lipo-solubility and it is limitation in the adjacent lipid compartment.



Figure 1.6: Proposed mechanism of *N*-nitrosamine formation in a dual-phase system on the presence of AA in the aqueous phase ⁽¹²¹⁾.

1.6 **Dietary antioxidants**

1.6.1 Phenolics in the diet

Dietary antioxidants have received considerable attention and interest in recent years. This arises from evidence that they may have beneficial effects against reactive oxygen species (ROS) and reactive nitrogen species (RNS). These ROS and RNS have been implicated in

the aetiology of many diseases such as cancer of the oesophagus and gastric cardia ⁽¹²³⁻¹²⁵⁾. One the most important natural dietary antioxidants are dietary phenolics ⁽¹²⁶⁻¹²⁹⁾. These water-soluble phenolic antioxidants are naturally present in the human diet, in a variety of fruits and vegetables as well as most beverages ^(130, 131). It has been suggested that dietary phenolics play a beneficial role against nitrosation and nitrating species, however, their exact mechanism of action is still unclear ^(127, 132, 133).

Phenolic compounds are one of the major groups of polyphenol compounds, which consist of flavonoids, stilbenes, and lignans ⁽¹³⁰⁾. These polyphenol compounds are classified into different groups according to their phenol rings and the elements that bind these rings ^(130, 131). In this study we examined a range of phenolics: caffeic acid (CA), ferulic acid (FA), chlorogenic acid (CGA), and gallic acid (GA). Gallic acid, belonging to the hydroxybenzoates, is mainly found in tea (tea leaves contain up to 4.5g/kg) and fruits while caffeic acid, ferulic acid, and chlorogenic acid belonging to the hydroxycinnamates, and are found in coffee and a variety of fruits such as apples, pears, peaches, plums ^(130, 131). Vegetables (stems and leaves) are also an important source of dietary phenolics ^(130, 131).

Dietary phenolics are believed to have an important beneficial effect on human health. Many studies have evaluated the antioxidant activity of phenolic compounds in relation to atherosclerosis ⁽¹³⁴⁻¹³⁶⁾. However less attention has been paid to the antioxidant activities of phenolic compounds in relation to gastric cancer. Therefore, an investigation of the antioxidant activity of dietary phenolics is important.

1.6.2 Antioxidant capacities

The stomach, particularly the cardia is subjected to many oxidative stresses (ROS and RNS) ^(48, 50, 53). The production of nitrosating species, which are derived from the acidification of nitrite, can cause injury to gastric mucosa and play a significant role in the

aetiology of gastric adenocarcinoma ^(28, 49, 78). Several studies have shown that an increased intake of dietary antioxidants may be associated with a lower risk of gastric cancer ^(123-125, 137). The exact mechanism by which these dietary antioxidants may reduce the risk of gastric cancer has not been completely elucidated, although some studies suggested these antioxidants may provide protection against cancer by scavenging the nitrosating species and inhibiting the formation of *N*-nitroso compounds ^(127, 132, 133). Several studies have reported that caffeic acid and related compounds provides protection against the *N*nitrosamine compounds (reaction of nitrite and secondary amines in gastric juice) by the inhibition of the *N*-nitrosation reactions ⁽¹³⁸⁻¹⁴⁰⁾. Furthermore, chlorogenic acid and related polyphenols competitively inhibit the nitrosation reaction of DNA by the nitrosating agent produced by nitrite under acidic conditions ⁽¹⁴¹⁾ and this may contribute to the protective effects of dietary phenolics against gastric cancer.

Moreover, recently many studies have demonstrated that the consumption of green tea inhibits nitrosation by competing with secondary amines for the nitrosating species ^(142, 143).

1.7 <u>Aim</u>

The aim of this *in vitro* study was to model the chemical reactions occurring at the human gastro-oesophageal junction (GOJ) after ingestion of nitrite; a mechanism which may be relevant to upper GI malignancies. The study aimed to elucidate the role of ascorbic acid (AA), sodium thiocyanate (NaSCN), different pH values (1.5, 2.5 and 3.0) and oxygen (O_2) on the nitrite chemistry in the simulated gastric juice.

This study also investigated the influence of a range of water- soluble dietary phenolics on the nitrite chemistry at simulated GOJ environment to compare their effect with that of ascorbic acid. **Chapter 2 – Materials and Methods**

2.1 Chemicals and reagents

All chemicals (solvents and reagents) used in the studies were obtained from Sigma Aldrich (Poole, UK), except the ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA) which was obtained from BDH Ltd., (Liverpool, UK).

2.2 <u>The bench-top model</u>

All studies were performed in a purpose-designed closed bench-top model, representing the human gastro-oesophageal junction, to study the chemical reaction occurring when nitrite encounters the simulated gastric juice. These studies focused on the measurement of nitric oxide formation and oxygen consumption by electrochemical detection.

The model consisted of a glass cylinder (75 mm tall and 25 mm internal diameter) equipped with a tight-fitting cap with two ports enabling insertion of the electrochemical nitric oxide and oxygen probes, as well as a third sampling port (Figure 2.1). The nitric oxide and dissolved oxygen meters were interfaced to a computer, converting the electrical signal (volts) to nitric oxide concentration in μ M and oxygen level in %, respectively.

The capped glass cylinder was filled with 36ml of simulated gastric juice. The simulated gastric juice (HCl, 0.1M, pH 1.5) contained 1mM EDTA, 1mM sodium thiocyanate (NaSCN), and ascorbic acid or phenolic acid. Ascorbic acid (AA) was tested in final concentrations of 100µM, 500µM or 2000µM in parallel with negative controls. Dietary phenolics including ferulic acid, caffeic acid, gallic acid, and chlorogenic acid were tested in final concentrations of 250µM and 2000µM.

The system was immersed in degassed water and the experiments carried out in a 37° C water bath (Figure 2.1). The total incubation time was 70 minutes and the assay was initiated by adding NaNO₂ after ten minutes from incubation.

(A)



(B)



Figure 2.1 The bench-top model, (A) photograph and (B) diagram, representing the human GOJ, to study the chemical reactions occurring when nitrite encounters the simulated gastric juice

Elimination of oxygen from the system

One of the most important shortcomings of the early experimental set-up under anaerobic condition was the entry of oxygen into the system. To overcome this problem, a tight fitting cap was especially designed. The system was then immersed under deoxygenated water to reduce any entry of oxygen into the system. Indeed, it was found in subsequent experiments that this set-up resulted in the maximum reduction of oxygen entering the system. Furthermore, to achieve anaerobic conditions, the head space of the capped cylinder was filled with argon gas.

2.3 Assay set-up

To study the influence of AA, NaSCN, O_2 and different pH values (1.5, 2.5 and 3.0) on the nitrite chemistry was carried out in a bench-top model; described under section 2.2.

To investigate the influence of ascorbic acid in nitrite chemistry, the simulated gastric juice (HCl, 0.1M, pH 1.5) contained 1mM EDTA, 1mM NaSCN, in the absence or presence of ascorbic acid (100µM, 500µM or 2000µM).

Under aerobic conditions, the contents of the cylinder were aerated for two minutes before the incubation, whereas for anaerobic conditions the dissolved oxygen was removed from the solutions by purging helium through it for 5- 10 minutes, followed by a flow of argon to fill the headspace of the capped cylinder.

The contents of the cylinder were constantly mixed with a magnetic stirrer and the system was immersed under water, which was also purged with helium and placed in water bath at 37°C (Figure 2.1).

The assay was initiated by the addition of sodium nitrite (100 μ M) at t=10 minutes and the incubated time was 60 minutes.

Furthermore, to investigate the influence of other parameters on the nitrite chemistry, each of the experiment was performed with and without NaSCN (1mM), at different pH values (1.5, 2.5 or 3.0) under both aerobic and anaerobic conditions.

Samples were taken from the cylinder to measure the AA and DHA at the start and end (50µl or 500µl) respectively, of the incubation period. All experiments were carried out in duplicate.

To assess the influence of a range of dietary phenolics on nitrite chemistry in comparison with ascorbic acid, the studies were carried out in the bench-top model described under section 2.2. The simulated gastric juice (HCl, 0.1M, pH 1.5) contained 1mM EDTA, 1mM NaSCN, in the presence of either ascorbic acid or dietary phenolics. The dietary phenolics, including ferulic acid, caffeic acid, gallic acid and chlorogenic acid were tested in final concentrations of 250µM and 2000µM. The studies were performed under both aerobic and anaerobic conditions. All experiments were carried out in duplicate.

2.3.1 Nitric oxide measurement

Nitric oxide levels were monitored with an isolated dissolved nitric oxide electrode and meter (ISO – NO Mark II; World Precision Instruments, Sarasota, Florida, U.S.A). The nitric oxide probe was calibrated by adding successive bolus of 50μ l NaNO₂ (0.7 μ M) to sulphuric acid (0.1 M) containing potassium iodide (0.1M) in a starting volume of 36 ml. Before adding the bolus of NaNO₂ to the solution, dissolved oxygen was removed by purging the system with helium for five minutes. Under these conditions, nitric oxide concentration in the solution was equal to nitrite concentration, i.e. one mole of nitrite produces one mole of nitric oxide. The NO meter was interfaced to a computer, converting the electrical signal (volt) to nitric oxide concentration in μ M; the electrode response was linear to the range of concentrations tested (Figure 2.2A and B).

(A)



Figure 2.2 Calibration of nitric oxide probe, (A) by adding successive bolus dose of 50 μ l NaNO2 to sulphuric acid (0.1M) containing potassium iodide (0.1M), and (B) obtaining a linear response between electrical signal of NO (volts) and NO concentration (μ M).).

2.3.2 Oxygen Measurement

The dissolved oxygen in the solution was monitored using an isolated dissolved oxygen meter and electrode (Mark II, World Precision Instrument Inc., Sarasota, U.S.A). The oxygen probe was calibrated at 37°C by repeatedly transferring the probe between two beakers filled with aerated HCl (20.4% oxygen) and degassed HCl (bubbling helium through) under constant stirring. The NaSCN (1mM), AA (2000 μ M) and NaNO₂ (100 μ M) were added to degassed HCl in order for the meter to display zero% of oxygen (Figure 2.3A and B).

(A)



Figure 2.3 Calibration of oxygen probe, (A) the arrow is indicates the time of the addition of NaSCN, AA, and NaNO₂ and (B) obtaining a linear response between electrical signals of O2 (volts) and O₂ levels (%).

One of the major difficulties of these experiments was the accurate calibration of the oxygen probe. The difficulties were mainly due to the extremely sensitive nature of the probe to achieve a right calibration. Any inaccuracy in the calibration process can result in over- or under-estimation of the value of the dissolved oxygen in the solution. This, in turn, would undermine the measurement processes. Therefore, great care was taken during the calibration of the oxygen probe. Indeed, it was common practice to calibrate the oxygen probe daily before starting the experiment. It was found that with this practice the experiments were highly reproducible.

2.4 <u>Sampling procedure</u>

Before starting the reaction, two 50µl samples were taken from the cylinder to be used to measure the baseline values of ascorbic acid (AA) and dehydroascorbic acid (DHA). After sixty minutes from the addition of nitrite, a further two samples (500µl) were taken to assess final AA/ DHA levels.

The samples for AA measurement $(50\mu l \text{ or } 500\mu l)$ were added to Eppendorf tubes containing an equal volume of 2% metaphosphoric acid and 0.5% sulfamic acid. The samples for DHA measurement $(50\mu l \text{ or } 500\mu l)$ were added to Eppendorf tubes containing an equal volume of 6 mg/ml dithiothreitol (DTT) and 2% metaphosphoric acid.

The purpose of the DTT was to generate AA from any DHA in the sample, thus allowing quantification of the total vitamin C (TVC) levels, allowing the amount of DHA present in the sample to be estimated by subtracting AA from TVC. To remove any remaining nitrite, sulfamic acid was added to the sample. All samples were kept at - 20°C until analysis by high performance liquid chromatograph (HPLC), based upon the method of Sanderson and Schorah ^(144, 145)

2.4.1 Ascorbic acid analysis

Before the analysis, samples were thawed and centrifuged at 1000g ALC (Multi-Speed Refrigerated Centrifuge) (CPK 131R) from Thermo Life Sciences. Remove 0.3ml of the samples supernatant were further centrifuged in a minifuge at 9000g (Mini-spine, Eppendorf). AA and TVC levels were measured by HPLC. The instrumentation was comprised of a Shimadzu L-ECD-6A Electrochemical Detector, Shimadzu LC-10AT VP pump, and Shimadzu model SIL-10AD VP with 50µl loop injector. AA was measured using reverse- phase on a Phenomenex 5µm C 18 Luna analytical column 150 x 4.6 mm and protected by an Anachem guard column 20 x 3 mm; Packing Material, Lichroprep RP-18 (25-40µm). The acetate buffer solution consisted of 0.1M sodium acetate and 0.1M octylamine adjusted to pH 4.3 using 50% acetic acid. The mobile phase pumped through HPLC consisted of 85% acetate buffer and 15% acetonitrile. The flow rate was 0.8ml/min, generating a column pressure of approximately 1000psi. The retention time of AA was 2.4 minutes. The aqueous stock standard solution was prepared by adding 5 mg AA to 5.0ml of DDT (3.5mg/ml) in MPA/SA 50/50 volumes. In working standards of 5, 10, 20, 30, and 40µg/ml of AA were prepared by taking 50, 100, 200, 300 and 400 ml of 1 mg/ml AA stock standard solution (1mg/ml), making the volume up to 10 ml in MPA/SA 50/50 volumes. The auto-sampler was programmed to inject 25µl aliquots of standards and samples. To remove the oxidizing sites on the column 25µl of the DDT solution was injected prior to the standards and samples. The number of injections through the HLPC was restricted to 55 due to the decomposition of AA, these include the standards before and after two sets of 20 samples ^(145, 146).

2.5 Data analysis

All the data is presented as mean values of two experiments. The nitric oxide and oxygen values were highly reproducible and thus only two experiments performed per study and

presented as mean value. The Pearson correlation coefficient (CC) was calculated for typical experiments in which there were changes in nitric oxide values with time (experiment 3.1.2) between the two duplicates and this gave values of CC=0.75, 0.97 and 0.91 for 100 μ M, 500 μ M and 2000 μ M, respectively. Similarly, for experiment 3.1.3 where oxygen varied with time and again the changes in the mean values of the two duplicates of the each experiment were correlated tightly, the Pearson correlation coefficient were 0.79, 0.91 and 0.63 for 100 μ M, 500 μ M and 2000 μ M, respectively. The statistical analysis of data of ascorbic acid results was performed either by ANOVA or by Student t- test. Statistically significance of the differences was depicted with P value of less than 0.01 and 0.05.

Chapter 3 – Results and Discussions

OVERVIEW

In this chapter experimental results are presented using the simulated gastric juice system described in Chapter 2.2, to study the role of various factors affecting nitrite chemistry at the simulated GOJ environment.

Also presented are the effects of a range of dietary phenolics (water-soluble antioxidant) on the nitrite chemistry and a comparison of their effect with ascorbic acid.

The study focused on the measurement of NO and O_2 levels by electrochemical detection. The result of these sections is followed by brief discussion.

3.1 <u>Nitrite chemistry in the simulated gastric juice: effect of ascorbic</u> <u>acid</u>

3.1.1 Nitric oxide and dissolved oxygen levels following nitrite addition in the absence of ascorbic acid

The addition of nitrite (100 μ M) to the simulated gastric juice (with NaSCN, pH 1.5, under aerobic condition) in the absence of ascorbic acid only led to a limited amount of nitric oxide being formed (0.34 μ M) (Figure 3.1). Meanwhile, dissolved oxygen levels decreased slightly after nitrite addition (from 20.7% to18.7%) before returning to baseline levels at t= 70 minutes (Figure 3.1).



Figure 3.1: Nitric oxide levels (μ M) (squares) and dissolved oxygen levels (%) (triangles) in the simulated gastric juice (NaSCN, pH 1.5) following nitrite addition (100 μ M) at t=10 min, in absence of ascorbic acid under aerobic condition. Values are presented as mean of two experiments.

3.1.2 Nitric oxide levels following nitrite addition in presence of different concentrations of ascorbic acid

When ascorbic acid was present in the system described under 3.1.1, it increased the production of nitric oxide and produced a more marked fall in oxygen concentration (Figure 3.2 and 3.3). With ascorbic acid 100 μ M, the nitric oxide concentration reached a peak value of 17.45 μ M one minute after the addition of nitrite. The nitric oxide concentration then slowly decreased to 2.2 μ M by the end of the incubation time period. With ascorbic acid 500 μ M, the nitric oxide concentration peaked at 68 μ M approximately five minutes after the addition of nitrite and then fell to 3 μ M after thirty minutes. With ascorbic acid 2000 μ M, the nitric oxide rose in a similar manner to that observed following ascorbic acid 500 μ M, reaching a value of 63.1 μ M at ten minutes. However, unlike the two lower concentrations of ascorbic acid, the nitric oxide concentration following ascorbic acid 2000 μ M remained elevated throughout the duration of the experiment (Figure 3.2).



Figure 3.2: Nitric oxide levels (μ M) in the simulated gastric juice (NaSCN, pH 1.5), following nitrite addition (100 μ M) at t=10 min, in presence of ascorbic acid 100 μ M (squares), 500 μ M (triangles) or 2000 μ M (circles) under aerobic condition. Values are presented as mean of two experiments. The CC between the two duplicates was 0.75, 0.97 and 0.91 for 100 μ M, 500 μ M and 2000 μ M, respectively.

respectively.

3.1.3 Dissolved oxygen levels following nitrite addition in presence of different concentrations of ascorbic acid

54

In the presence of ascorbic acid 100 μ M, the rise in nitric oxide concentration was mirrored by a fall in oxygen concentration from a baseline value of 20% to 16% one minute after the addition of nitrite. Thereafter, the oxygen concentration remained steady or slightly increased back towards baseline level. With ascorbic acid 500 μ M, the more marked rise in nitric oxide was mirrored by a more marked fall in dissolved oxygen concentration with the nadir of oxygen concentration occurring at five minutes after the addition of nitrite being only 1% and then slowly increasing and returning to 15% by the end of the experiment. With ascorbic acid 2000 μ M, the oxygen concentration decreased to become undetectable within the first three minutes and remained undetectable throughout the duration of the experiment (Figure 3.3).



Figure 3.3: Dissolved oxygen levels (%) in the simulated gastric juice (NaSCN, pH1.5), following nitrite addition (100μ M) at t=10 min, in presence of ascorbic acid 100μ M (squares), 500μ M (triangles) or 2000 μ M (circles). Values are presented as mean of two experiments. The CC between the two duplicates was 0.79, 0.91 and 0.63 for 100μ M, 500μ M and 2000μ M,

3.1.4 Ascorbic acid measurements

In the experiment with 100 μ M ascorbic acid, the ascorbic acid was entirely consumed by the end of the experiment. In the experiment with 500 μ M ascorbic acid, 91.5% of the ascorbic acid was consumed. With 2000 μ M ascorbic acid significant amounts of ascorbic acid remained at the end of the experiment with only 32% being consumed (Table 3.1).

Table 3.1: Ascorbic acid consumed (%) in the simulated gastric juice (NaSCN, pH 1.5), following nitrite addition (100μ M) in the presence of ascorbic acid 100μ M, 500μ M or 2000μ M over 60 minutes incubation, under aerobic conditions. Values are presented as mean of two experiments and their statistical difference.

$[AA] \mu M (at t=0)$	AA consumed (%) (at t= 70 min)	P value
100	99.18	P < 0.05
500	91.47	P < 0.05
2000	32.05	P < 0.01

3.1.5 Discussion

The addition of nitrite 100 μ M to the HCl pH1.5 containing sodium thiocyanate 1mM produced only a very small increase in the nitric oxide concentration reaching a peak of 0.34 μ M. The pKa of nitrite is 3.5 and at the experimental pH of 1.5, the added nitrite is converted to nitrous acid, nitrosating species including N₂O₃, NO⁺ and NOSCN, and the small concentration of nitric oxide ^(28, 49, 78). When the experiment was repeated in the presence of 100 μ M ascorbic acid, the rise in nitric oxide was much more marked reaching a peak of 17.45 μ M. This can be explained by the ascorbic acid reacting with the nitrosating species with the latter being reduced to nitric oxide and the former being oxidised to dehydroascorbic acid ^(52-54, 101).



Scheme 3.1:. Nitrite chemistry in acidic aerobic solutions (147).

In the presence of ascorbic acid 100 μ M, the addition of nitrite also resulted in a fall in the dissolved oxygen concentration from 20% to 16% and this fall mirrored the rise in nitric oxide. This fall in oxygen can be explained by the nitric oxide formed by the reaction between the ascorbic acid and the nitrosating species reacting with the dissolved oxygen to form NO₂, N₂O₃, nitrous acid and nitrosating species scheme 3.2 ^(61, 104, 119, 120).



Scheme 3.2: Chemical reaction occurring when nitrite encounter the simulated gastric juice containing thiocyanate and ascorbic acid under aerobic condition.

The rate of the reaction between nitric oxide and oxygen is directly related to the concentration of oxygen and to the square of the nitric oxide concentration ^(61, 119). The reaction between the nitric oxide and dissolved oxygen to re-form nitrosating species results in recycling of the nitrosating species and thus consumption of the ascorbic acid.

This can explain why only 17.45 μ M nitric oxide was formed when equimolar amounts of ascorbic acid and nitrite were present. As the nitric oxide was being produced, it was also being consumed by reacting with the oxygen. This recycling also meant that the ascorbic acid would be fully consumed; preventing any further formation of nitric oxide and thus the nitric oxide concentration fell. In the experiments with ascorbic acid 100 μ M, there was no ascorbic acid detectible at the end of the experiment.

The experiment with the ascorbic acid 500μ M showed a much more marked rise in nitric oxide, a more marked fall in oxygen, and again the great majority of ascorbic acid was consumed by the end of the experiment. The changes noted with ascorbic acid 500μ M can again be explained by the mechanism discussed above.

When the experiment was performed with ascorbic acid 2000µM present, clear differences were seen from those observed with the lower doses. The nitric oxide concentration reached a peak of 63µM and remained at this level throughout the study period. In addition, the oxygen concentration fell to undetectable levels and remained undetectable throughout the experiment. Furthermore, the experiment differed from the earlier experiments in that all the added ascorbic acid was not consumed during the experiment. The higher concentration of ascorbic acid in this experiment would mean that recycling of nitrosating species could continue until the oxygen was completely depleted. In contrast, in the earlier experiments the rate controlling factor in the recycling process was the ascorbic acid which became completely depleted rather than the oxygen. The complete depletion of the oxygen and the persistence of ascorbic acid can explain why the nitric oxide concentration remained elevated throughout the experiment without showing any evidence of a fall. The main reason for the nitric oxide falling in the earlier experiments was that it was reacting with oxygen to re-form nitrosating species and nitrous acid ^(61, 104, 119, 120). In

oxygen were to enter the system and react with nitric oxide to re-form nitrosating species then the remaining ascorbic acid would rapidly react with these nitrosating species to reproduce nitric oxide.

Though we added nitrite 100μ M we did not produce nitric oxide 100μ M. There are several explanations for this. The first is that some of the nitric oxide may have been lost from the system. The second is that during the recycling process some of the products end up as nitrate and in this way can no longer be recycled ⁽¹⁴⁷⁾.

3.2 <u>Nitrite chemistry in the simulated gastric juice: effect of</u> <u>thiocyanate</u>

3.2.1 Nitric oxide and dissolved oxygen levels following nitrite addition in the absence of ascorbic acid

In the absence of ascorbic acid, the change in nitric oxide and oxygen on adding nitrite to hydrochloric acid pH1.5 was identical in the presence or absence of sodium thiocyanate 1mM (Figures 3.4A and B).

(A)



Figure 3.4: Effect of thiocyanate, presence (A) and absence (B) on nitric oxide levels (μ M) (squares) and dissolved oxygen (%) (triangles) in the simulated gastric juice, following nitrite addition (100 μ M) at t=10 min, in absence of ascorbic acid. Values are presented as mean of two experiments.

3.2.2 Nitric oxide levels following nitrite addition in the presence of different concentrations of ascorbic acid

When nitrite 100μ M was added to the HCl pH1.5 containing ascorbic acid 100μ M in the presence of sodium thiocyanate it produced a higher peak nitric oxide concentration of 17.45μ M compared with 8.6μ M in the absence of thiocyanate. In the presence of thiocyanate the peak nitric oxide concentration occurred one minute after the addition of nitrite and then slowly fell. The rise in nitric oxide in the absence of thiocyanate appeared to be slower and not occurring until two minutes after the addition of nitrite (Figure 3.5A).

With ascorbic acid 500µM there was a marked difference in the peak nitric oxide concentration reached. In the presence of thiocyanate a peak nitric oxide concentration of 68µM was reached five minutes after adding nitrite. In contrast, the peak nitric oxide concentration in the absence of thiocyanate was 20.7µM and occurred ten minutes after the addition of nitrite. The profile of the rise in nitric oxide was also different in the presence and absence of thiocyanate. In the presence of thiocyanate there was a clear rise and then clear fall in the nitric oxide concentration. In contrast, in the absence of thiocyanate the absence of thiocyanate the between two and ten minutes after adding the nitrite and then it slowly fell (Figure 3.5B).

With ascorbic acid 2000μ M there was a marked rise in nitric oxide both in the presence and absence of thiocyanate and in both cases the nitric oxide remained elevated throughout the duration of the experiment. However, there did appear to be some differences in the profile of the nitric oxide response in the presence versus absence of thiocyanate. (A)



(B)





Figure 3.5: Nitric oxide levels (μ M) in the simulated gastric juice at pH 1.5, on absence of thiocyanate (triangles) and presence (squares), following nitrite addition (100 μ M) at t=10min, in the presence of ascorbic acid 100 μ M (A), 500 μ M (B) or 2000 μ M (C) under aerobic condition. Values are presented as mean of two experiments.

In the presence of thiocyanate, the initial rise in nitric oxide was more rapid than in the absence of thiocyanate and in the presence of thiocyanate the level of the plateau of nitric oxide was approximately 15μ M lower than that obtained in the absence of the thiocyanate (Figure 3.5C).

3.2.3 Dissolved oxygen levels following nitrite addition in presence of different concentrations of ascorbic acid

With the ascorbic acid 100μ M, the change in oxygen concentration reflected the changes in nitric oxide with a more rapid fall in oxygen in the presence of thiocyanate (Figure 3.6A).

With the ascorbic acid 500μ M, the changes in oxygen also reflected the changes in nitric oxide. In the presence of thiocyanate the oxygen level fell more rapidly and was almost undetectable for five minutes and then slowly increased again. In contrast, in the absence of thiocyanate the fall in oxygen was slower, reaching a nadir of 5% at twenty minutes and then showing a slow rise (Figure 3.6B).

With the ascorbic acid 2000 μ M, the oxygen was completely depleted in the presence of thiocyanate within the first three minutes and remained undetectable throughout the experiment. In contrast the fall in oxygen was less rapid in the absence of thiocyanate, reaching a nadir of 1.5% at six minutes and then slowly rising (Figure 3.6C).









(C)



Figure 3.6: Dissolved oxygen levels (%) in the simulated gastric juice on absence of thiocyanate (triangles) and presence (squares), following nitrite addition (100μ M) at t=10 min, in the presence of ascorbic acid 100μ M (A), 500 μ M (B) and 2000 μ M (C). Values are presented as mean of two experiments.

3.2.4 Ascorbic acid measurements

In the ascorbic acid 100 μ M, all of the ascorbic acid was consumed in the presence of thiocyanate whereas only approximately 50% was consumed in the absence of thiocyanate. In addition with ascorbic acid 500 μ M, 91% was consumed in the presence of thiocyanate compared with only 80% in the absence of thiocyanate. With the ascorbic acid 2000 μ M substantial amounts remained present in both the presence and absence of thiocyanate (Table 3.2).

Table 3.2 Thiocyanate effect on ascorbic acid consumption (%) in the simulated gastric juice pH 1.5 under aerobic condition, following nitrite addition (100μ M) in presence of ascorbic acid 100μ M, 500 μ M or 2000 μ M over 60 minutes incubation. Values are presented as mean of two experiments.

[AA]µM at t=0	AA consumed (%) with NaSCN at t= 70 min	AA consumed (%) without NaSCN at t= 70 min	P Value
100	99.18	44.43	P < 0.05
500	91.47	80.72	P < 0.05
2000	32.05	29.24	

3.2.5 Discussion

In the presence of thiocyanate, the rise in nitric oxide concentration was more rapid and at the two lower concentrations of ascorbic acid, produced a higher peak concentration. In the presence of thiocyanate, at acidic pH, the NO⁺ reacts with thiocyanate to form the nitrosating species NOSCN ^(49, 78, 90-92). This is the dominant species which is thought to react with ascorbic acid to form nitric oxide ^(49, 78, 90-92). In contrast, in the absence of thiocyanate the nitrosating species are N₂O₃ and NO⁺. The more rapid rise in nitric oxide concentration can be explained by the raised affinity of NOSCN following ascorbic acid compared to these other nitrosating species at the pH of this experiment.

In the experiment with ascorbic acid 500µM, the presence of thiocyanate produced a clear peak nitric oxide concentration and then clear fall, whereas in the absence of thiocyanate there was a lower peak concentration but more of a plateau of nitric oxide with a less rapid fall. The more rapid fall in nitric oxide in the presence of thiocyanate may be explained by the more rapid consumption of ascorbic acid and the fall in nitric oxide concentration occurring when the ascorbic acid has been depleted⁽¹⁰⁴⁾. The consumption of ascorbic acid occurs due to the recycling of nitric oxide and its reactive oxygen to reform nitrosating species. In the thiocyanate the fall in oxygen was more rapid. This can be explained by the higher concentration of nitric oxide produced in the presence of thiocyanate and the reaction between nitric oxide and oxygen being related to the square of nitric oxide concentration ^(61, 119, 120). The changes in the ascorbic acid concentration would also be consistent with the ascorbic acid being more rapidly consumed in the presence of thiocyanate as the concentrations of ascorbic acid at the end of the experiment were lower in the presence versus absence of thiocyanate. The slower consumption of ascorbic acid in the absence of thiocyanate would mean that when nitric oxide reacted with oxygen to reform nitrosating species, the latter could still react with ascorbic acid and reform nitric

oxide. One would therefore have a steady state with the consumption of nitric oxide by its reaction with oxygen equal to the rate of its regeneration by the reaction of nitrosating species with ascorbic acid and therefore producing the plateau level of nitric oxide.

In the presence of thiocyanate the oxygen concentration was higher at the end of the experiment than in the absence of thiocyanate. The rise in oxygen in the presence of thiocyanate can be explained by oxygen diffusing into the system. Though this would also happen in the absence of thiocyanate, the persisting nitric oxide in the absence of thiocyanate would be able to react with the oxygen converting it into nitrous acid.

In the experiment with ascorbic acid 2000 μ M, the rise in nitric oxide was more rapid in the presence of thiocyanate but the plateau level achieved was slightly lower. The more rapid rise in nitric oxide can again be explained by the higher affinity of NOSCN for ascorbic acid than that of other nitrosating species. The lower level of the plateau in the presence of thiocyanate is likely to be explained by greater recycling of nitric oxide in the presence of thiocyanate leading to a greater proportion ending up as nitrate ⁽¹⁰⁴⁾. The greater rate of production of nitric oxide in the presence of thiocyanate will lead to a greater rate of recycling and thus a higher proportion of the nitric oxide ending up as nitrate^(104, 147). Further evidence of this greater rate of recycling was seen in the fact that the oxygen concentration in the presence of thiocyanate fell more rapidly in the presence of thiocyanate than in its absence ⁽¹²⁰⁾.

In the absence of thiocyanate, a small amount of oxygen was still detectible throughout the experiment with ascorbic acid 2000µM present. In contrast, no oxygen was detectible after three minutes in the presence of thiocyanate. The reason for this is unclear. In both experiments nitric oxide was maintained at a high level throughout the experiment and indeed was slightly higher towards the end of the experiment in the absence of thiocyanate. Reasons for this are unclear.

3.3 <u>Nitrite chemistry in the simulated gastric juice: effect of different</u> <u>pH values (1.5, 2.5 and 3.0)</u>

3.3.1 Nitric oxide and dissolved oxygen levels following nitrite addition in the presence of different concentrations of ascorbic acid

With ascorbic acid 100 μ M present, the rise in nitric oxide concentration on adding nitrite 100 μ M to HCl containing thiocyanate was related to the pH of the HCl. The rise in nitric oxide was greatest at the lowest pH of 1.5 and least at pH 3. In addition, the rate of rise in nitric oxide was more rapid at pH1.5 and much slower at pH 3 (Figure 3.7A). These changes in nitric oxide were reflected in similar changes in degree of fall in the oxygen concentration (Figure 3.8A).

With ascorbic acid 500 μ M the rise in nitric oxide was more marked than with the ascorbic acid 100 μ M and again the degree of rise was influenced by the pH. The increase in nitric oxide was greatest at pH 1.5 reaching a peak of 68 μ M at five minutes and then falling to 6.5 μ M at twenty minutes. At pH 2.5, the peak nitric oxide was 30.7 μ M reached at 5 minutes and again slowly falling. At pH 3, the rise in nitric oxide concentration was very slow but continuous, reaching a peak of 11.9 μ M at the end of the experiment (Figure 3.7B). The changes in oxygen concentration with the ascorbic acid 500 μ M again reflected the changes in nitric oxide at the different pH with the most marked and rapid fall in oxygen being seen at pH 1.5. Interestingly, the rise in oxygen concentration in the latter part of the experiment was most marked also with the pH 1.5 solutions (Figure 3.8B).

With ascorbic acid 2000μ M the rate of rise in nitric oxide was closely related to the pH being most rapid at pH 1.5 and slowest at pH 3. At each pH, the final concentration obtained was approximately 70μ M, though the plateau did seem to be slightly lower in the

lowest pH solutions (Figure 3.7C). The change in oxygen concentration again reflected the rise in nitric oxide being most rapid at pH 1.5 and slowest at pH 3. In addition, at pH 3 there seemed to be some residual oxygen present (Figure 3.8C).



Figure 3.7: Nitric oxide levels (μ M) in the simulated gastric juice (NaSCN, aerobic condition) of different pH values pH 1.5 (squares), 2.5 (triangles) and 3.0 (circles), following nitrite addition (100 μ M) at t=10 min, in the presence of ascorbic acid 100 μ M (A), 500 μ M (B) or 2000 μ M (C). Values are presented as mean of two experiments.











Figure 3.8: Dissolved oxygen levels (%) in the simulated gastric juice (NaSCN, under aerobic condition) of different pH values pH 1.5 (squares), 2.5 (triangles) and 3.0 (circles) on, following nitrite addition (100 μ M) at t=10 min, in the presence of ascorbic acid 100 μ M (A), 500 μ M (B) or 2000 μ M (C). Values are presented as mean of two experiments.

3.3.2 Discussion

The effect of pH on nitric oxide and oxygen were similar at the ascorbic acid 100µM and ascorbic acid 500µM experiments. However, the changes are clearer in the ascorbic acid 500µM experiment and therefore discussion will focus on that experiment. With the ascorbic acid 500µM the rise in nitric oxide was most rapid and greatest at pH 1.5 and slowest at pH 3. This can be explained by the effect of the pH on the proportion of nitrosating species present with a high affinity for reacting with ascorbic acid. The concentration of NO⁺ in the solution of nitrite is inversely related to the pH value being greatest at lowest pH ^(50, 104). The reactive nitrosating species in the presence of thiocyanate is thought to be NOSCN, which is formed by a reaction between NO⁺ and SCN⁻. Consequently, lowering the pH will increase the concentration of nitric oxide. The initial fall in the oxygen concentration was also greatest at lowest pH, again being consistent with the fall in oxygen being directly related to the concentration of nitric oxide which will then react with the oxygen to form nitrosating species again ^(50, 104, 120).

In the ascorbic acid 500µM experiment the fall in nitric oxide concentration following its peak was more marked at pH 1.5 than at pH 2.5 and this was reflected in a more rapid rise in oxygen following its nadir at pH 1.5 than at pH 2.5. This is likely to be related to the fact that at pH 1.5 the more rapid recycling will result in the complete depletion of ascorbic acid whereas at pH 2.5 the slower chemistry results in a slower rate of recycling and thus some ascorbic acid will remain ⁽¹⁰⁴⁾. Though ascorbic acid was not measured in this particular experiment, the results from earlier experiments indicate that at pH 1.5 in the presence of thiocyanate, ascorbic acid would be fully depleted.
Chapter 3

In the 500µM experiment at pH 3 the rise in nitric oxide concentration was very slow but at the end of the experiment it was higher than at the lower pHs where nitric oxide concentration had fallen back to almost zero. In this experiment the slow rate of production of nitric oxide results in very slow recycling and thus ascorbic acid remains. In the presence of adequate ascorbic acid equilibrium will therefore be produced between the production of nitric oxide by the reaction in nitrosating species and ascorbic acid and the loss of nitric oxide due to the reaction of nitric oxide with the oxygen. The latter reaction will be very slow at this low concentration of nitric oxide.

With the ascorbic acid 2000 μ M, the rise in nitric oxide was most rapid with the pH 1.5 solution and slowest with the pH 3 solution. In each case, the final concentration achieved at the end of the experiment was fairly similar at approximately 70 μ M and it seemed to be slightly lower with the lowest pH. The fall in oxygen concentration again reflected the rise in nitric oxide. In this experiment the ascorbic acid being in gross excess will not be rate-controlling and therefore one can see the clear effects of the pH on the rate of production of nitric oxide. Again the slightly lower plateau with nitric oxide at pH 1.5 may be explained by the more rapid recycling at this pH and thus greater conversion of the nitrosating species to nitrate which can no longer be converted to nitric oxide.

3.4 <u>Nitrite chemistry in the simulated gastric juice: effect of oxygen</u>

3.4.1 Nitric oxide levels following nitrite addition in theabsence of ascorbic acid

The addition of nitrite $(100\mu M)$ to the simulated gastric juice (with NaSCN, pH 1.5) in absence of ascorbic acid under both aerobic and anaerobic conditions produced very limited amount of nitric oxide were, $0.34\mu M$ and $2.25\mu M$, respectively.

3.4.2 Nitric oxide and dissolved oxygen levels following nitrite addition in presence different concentration of ascorbic acid

The presence of oxygen had a profound effect on the rise in nitric oxide when nitrite 100µM was added to HCl pH 1.5 containing thiocyanate and this was most marked at the lowest ascorbic acid concentration.

With ascorbic acid 100 μ M in the presence of oxygen, the peak nitric oxide concentration was 17.4 μ M occurring one minute after the addition of nitrite and then it slowly fell during the experiment. In contrast, in the absence of oxygen a peak nitric concentration of 78 μ M occurred one-two minutes after adding nitrite and this only showed a slight fall throughout the remainder of the experiment (Figure 3.9A).

With the ascorbic acid 500 μ M and ascorbic acid 2000 μ M, the rises in the nitric oxide level under the anaerobic conditions were similar to that seen with ascorbic acid100 μ M. However, under aerobic conditions the rise in nitric oxide concentration was greater with the ascorbic acid 500 μ M reaching a peak of 68 μ M at five minutes and then falling to undetectable levels at the end of the experiment (Figure 3.9B). With the ascorbic acid

Chapter 3

 2000μ M, the rise in nitric oxide under the aerobic conditions reached a peak of 63μ M at ten minutes and remained elevated throughout the experiment (Figure 3.9C).



Figure 3.9: Nitric oxide levels (μ M) in the simulated gastric juice (NaSCN, pH 1.5) under aerobic (squares) and anaerobic (triangles), conditions, following nitrite addition (100 μ M) at t=10min, in the presence of ascorbic acid 100 μ M (A), 500 μ M (B) or 2000 μ M (C). Values are presented as mean of two experiments.

3.4.3 Ascorbic acid measurements

The presence of oxygen had a marked effect on the amount of ascorbic acid consumed during the experiment. In the absence of oxygen ascorbic acid remained present at the end of each experiment even when only ascorbic acid 100 μ M had been added. In contrast, in the presence of oxygen all the ascorbic acid was consumed during the experiment at 100 μ M and more than 90% with the ascorbic acid 500 μ M but only 32% with the ascorbic acid 2000 μ M (Table 3.3).

Table 3.3: Ascorbic acid consumed (%) in the simulated gastric juice (NaSCN, pH 1.5), following nitrite addition (100μ M) in the presence of ascorbic acid 100μ M, 500μ M or 2000μ M over 60 minutes incubation, under both aerobic and anaerobic conditions. Values are presented as mean of two experiments.

[AA]µM at t=0	AA consumed (%) with oxygen at t= 70 min	AA consumed (%) without oxygen at t= 70 min	P Value
100	99.18	72.13	P < 0.05
500	91.47	48.89	
2000	32.05	10.12	

3.4.4 Discussion

These experiments show the dramatic effect that the presence of oxygen has on this chemistry. With ascorbic acid 100µM in the presence of oxygen, the peak nitric oxide concentration was only 17.4µM and then rapidly fell whereas in the absence of oxygen the nitric oxide concentration reached a peak value of 78µM and remained elevated throughout the experiment. Consequently, the area under the nitric oxide time curve was of the order of 20 times greater in the absence than in the presence of oxygen. As shown in earlier experiments, the key reaction in producing the nitric oxide in the acidified nitrite solution is the presence of ascorbic acid. The much lower nitric oxide concentration in the ascorbic acid 100µM experiment in the presence of oxygen can be explained by the rapid consumption and depletion of ascorbic acid ^(50, 104). This is consistent with the fact that no ascorbic acid was detectible at the end of the experiment. Stoichiometrically, one molecule of ascorbic acid should convert one molecule of nitrite in acidic conditions to one molecule of nitric oxide. This chemistry was apparent in the absence of oxygen where nitrite 100µM produced 80µM nitric oxide. However, in the presence of oxygen the nitric oxide formed in this way rapidly reacted with the oxygen to reform nitrosating species which can further react with the ascorbic acid and they converted that to nitric oxide. However, these recycling results in the rapid consumption of ascorbic acid and consequently the nitrosating species formed cannot be converted back into nitric oxide. The rapid rate of this recycling appears as 1.5 in the presence of thiocyanate and is demonstrated by the fact that ascorbic acid must be consumed within a minute of adding the nitrite, as the nitric oxide concentration was markedly lower at this time point which represents its concentration in the presence of oxygen.

In the anaerobic experiments increasing the ascorbic acid concentration to 500μ M or 2000μ M had no significant effect on the nitric oxide response. This can be explained by

the fact that adequate ascorbic acid was available even at its lowest concentration and therefore increasing the concentration had little effect on the nitric oxide profile. In contrast, in the presence of oxygen increasing the ascorbic acid concentration markedly changed the nitric oxide profile and at the ascorbic acid 2000µM concentration the nitric oxide profile became very similar to that in the absence of oxygen. The latter can be explained by the fact that at high concentrations of ascorbic acid the recycling of the nitrite results in depletion of oxygen (see earlier experiment 3.1.2) and consequently the experiment then becomes an anaerobic experiment. In the absence of oxygen, the nitric oxide formed remains as nitric oxide as it cannot react with oxygen to return to nitrosating species and nitrite.

3.5 <u>Nitrite chemistry in the simulated gastric juice: effect of different</u> <u>concentrations of dietary phenolics in the presence of oxygen</u>

3.5.1 At low concentration (250µM)

3.5.1.1 Nitric oxide and dissolved oxygen levels following nitrite addition in the presence of caffeic acid (CA), ferulic acid (FA), chlorogenic acid (CGA) and gallic acid (GA) individually in comparison with ascorbic acid

In the presence of oxygen the addition of nitrite 100μ M to the simulated gastric juice containing NaSCN (1mM) and AA or a range of dietary phenolics (FA, CA, GA and CGA, 250µM) individually at pH 1.5, resulted in nitric oxide production and a fall in oxygen concentrations (Figure 3.10 and 3.11). With ferulic and caffeic acid (250µM), the nitric oxide concentration reached a peak value of 3.5µM and 5.6µM respectively two minutes after addition of nitrite. These nitric oxide concentrations then slowly decreased to undetectable level by the end of the experiment. With gallic acid (250µM) the nitric oxide reached a plateau at 7.8µM and remained at that level between two and ten minutes after adding the nitrite. The nitric oxide concentration then slowly fell to 4µM by the end of the incubation time period. With chlorogenic acid (250µM) the nitric oxide rose in a similar manner to that observed following gallic acid, reaching a plateau at 6.5µM, although, it remained elevated throughout the duration of the experiment. With ascorbic acid (250µM) the nitric oxide concentration reached a peak at 23.5µM, occurring at one minute from the addition of nitrite. This rise in the nitric oxide was different from that seen after other phenolics acids were added. There was a clear rise and then clear fall in the nitric oxide concentration (Figure 3.10).

With ferulic acid or caffeic acid $(250\mu M)$ the change in nitric oxide concentrations were reflected in similar changes in the degree of fall in the oxygen concentration. The oxygen

concentrations were decreased from a baseline value 20% to 19% and 18%, respectively. Thereafter the oxygen concentrations remained steady or slightly increased back towards the baseline level. The change in oxygen concentration with gallic acid and chlorogenic acid (250μ M) again reflected the change in nitric oxide with the most marked and rapid fall in oxygen being seen with gallic acid. With ascorbic acid (250μ M), the marked rise in nitric oxide was reflected by a marked fall in the dissolved oxygen concentration with the lowest point of oxygen concentration occurring two minutes after the addition of nitrite being 14.5% and then slowly increasing and returning to 19% at the end of the experiment (Figure 3.11).



Figure 3.10: Effect of presence of 250 μ M ferulic acid (squares), caffeic acid (triangles), gallic acid (open circles), chlorogenic acid (circles) or ascorbic acid (open squares) on nitric oxide levels (μ M) in the simulated gastric juice, following nitrite addition (100 μ M) at t=10 min under aerobic conditions. Values are presented as mean of two experiments.



Figure 3.11: Effect of presence of 250μ M ferulic acid (squares), caffeic acid (triangles), gallic acid (open circles), chlorogenic acid (circles) or ascorbic acid (open squares) on dissolved oxygen levels (%) in the simulated gastric juice, following nitrite addition (100μ M) at t=10 min. Values are presented as mean of two experiments.

3.5.2 At high concentration (2000µM)

3.5.2.1 Nitric oxide and dissolved oxygen levels following nitrite addition in the presence of caffeic acid (CA), ferulic acid (FA), chlorogenic acid (CGA) and gallic acid (GA) individually in parallel with ascorbic acid

When ferulic acid (2000 μ M), was present in the system described under 3.5.1.1, it produced nitric oxide at a peak value of 5.2 μ M within minute of the addition of nitrite. With caffeic acid (2000 μ M), the nitric oxide rose in a similar manner to that observed following ferulic acid, reaching a value 7.5 μ M minute after the addition of nitrite. Under both conditions the nitric oxide concentrations then slowly decreased to become undetectable by the end of incubation time period. With gallic acid (2000 μ M), the nitric oxide concentration peaked at 20 μ M ten minutes after the addition of nitrite, and then slowly decreased to 6 μ M by the end of the experiment. With chlorogenic acid (2000 μ M) the rise in the nitric oxide concentration gradually reached a peak of 39.5 μ M at the end of the experiment. In the presence of ascorbic acid (2000 μ M), there was a marked rise in nitric oxide, which reached a value 63.1 μ M approximately ten minutes after the addition of the experiment. The nitric oxide concentration remained elevated throughout the duration of the experiment (Figure 3.12).

With ferulic acid (2000 μ M) the rise in nitric oxide concentration was mirrored by a fall in the oxygen concentration from 20% to 19% within the first two minutes, and then it slowly decreased to 17% by the end of the experiment. With caffeic acid (2000 μ M), the dissolved oxygen concentration fell from a baseline value of 20% to 19% within the first two minutes after the addition of nitrite. Thereafter the oxygen concentration remained steady and slightly increased back towards baseline level. With gallic acid (2000 μ M), the rise in nitric oxide was mirrored by the fall in dissolved oxygen concentration with the nadir of 8% oxygen concentration at fifteen minutes after the addition of nitrite. This then slowly increased and returned to12% at the end of the experiment. With chlorogenic acid (2000 μ M), the oxygen concentration gradually decreased to become undetectable at 20 minutes and then slowly increasing to 2% at the end of the experiment. With ascorbic acid (2000 μ M), the oxygen concentration rapidly decreased to become undetectable at first three minutes and remained undetectable for the duration of the experiment (Figure 3.13).



Figure 3.12: Effect of presence of 2000 μ M ferulic acid (squares), caffeic acid (triangles), gallic acid (open circles), chlorogenic acid (circles) or ascorbic acid (open squares) on nitric oxide levels (μ M) in the simulated gastric juice, following nitrite addition (100 μ M) at t=10 min under aerobic conditions. Values are presented as mean of two experiments.



Figure 3.13: Effect of presence of 2000μ M ferulic acid (squares), caffeic acid (triangles), gallic acid (open circles), chlorogenic acid (circles) or ascorbic acid (open squares) on dissolved oxygen levels (%) in the simulated gastric juice, following nitrite addition (100μ M) at t=10 min. Values are presented as mean of two experiments.

3.6 <u>Nitrite chemistry in the simulated gastric juice: effect of different</u> <u>concentrations of dietary phenolics in the absence of oxygen</u>

3.6.1 Nitric oxide levels following nitrite addition in the presence of caffeic acid (CA), ferulic acid (FA), chlorogenic acid (CGA) and gallic acid (GA) individually, in compare with ascorbic acid

3.6.1.1 At low concentration (250 μ M)

In the absence of oxygen the addition of nitrite 100μ M to simulated gastric juice (with NaSCN, pH 1.5) containing ferulic acid (250 μ M) produced nitric oxide reaching a peak value of 10 μ M at three minutes after the addition of nitrite. The nitric oxide concentration then slowly decreased to 2 μ M by the end of the incubation time period. With caffeic acid (250 μ M) the nitric oxide concentration peaked at 18.4 μ M two minutes after the addition of nitrite and then slowly decreased to 2.5 μ M by the end of the experiment. With the chlorogenic acid (250 μ M) the rise in nitric oxide concentration was gradual but continuous, reaching a peak of 36.4 μ M by the end of the experiment. With gallic acid (250 μ M) there was a marked rise in nitric oxide reaching a peak of 50 μ M at twenty five minutes and then slowly fall to 40.7 μ M by the end of the experiment. With ascorbic acid (250 μ M) there was a clear rise in the nitric oxide concentration reaching a peak value of 89.5 μ M minute after the addition of nitrite. The nitric oxide then slowly decreased to 58 μ M by the end of the incubation time (Figure 3.14).

3.6.1.2 At high concentration (2000 μ M)

In the absence of oxygen, the rise in the nitric oxide profile after adding nitrite (100μ M) to simulated gastric juice (with NaSCN, pH 1.5) was similar in the presence of ferulic or caffeic acid (2000μ M). With ferulic acid (2000μ M) the nitric oxide concentration reached

a peak value of 17.5 μ M minute after the addition of nitrite and then slowly decreased to 2.2 μ M at seventy minutes. With caffeic acid (2000 μ M) the nitric oxide rose in a similar manner to that observed following ferulic acid, reaching a value approximately 15 μ M higher than that obtained with ferulic acid (2000 μ M). With chlorogenic (2000 μ M) the rise in nitric oxide concentration gradually reached a plateau at a level of 54 μ M occurring at ten minutes from adding nitrite. The nitric oxide concentration remained elevated throughout the duration of the experiment. With gallic acid or ascorbic acid (2000 μ M), the addition of nitrite it produced high peak nitric oxide concentration occurred approximately ten minutes after the addition of nitrite. With gallic acid, the nitric oxide peak value was 80 μ M and then this gradually decreased to 46 μ M by the end of the incubation time period. With ascorbic acid, the nitric oxide peak was approximately 15 μ M lower than that observed with gallic acid and by the end of experiment it was 49 μ M (Figure 3.15).



Figure 3.14: Nitric oxide levels (μ M) in the simulated gastric juice, following nitrite addition (100 μ M) at t=10 min, in presence 250 μ M of ferulic acid (squares), caffeic acid (triangles), gallic acid (open circles), chlorogenic acid (circles) or ascorbic acid (open squares) under anaerobic conditions. Values are presented as mean of two experiments.



Figure 3.15: Nitric oxide levels (μ M) in the simulated gastric juice, following nitrite addition (100 μ M) at t=10 min, in presence 2000 μ M of ferulic acid (squares), caffeic acid (triangles), gallic acid (open circles), (circles) or ascorbic acid (open squares) under anaerobic condition. Values are presented as mean of two experiments.

3.6.2 Discussion

The second aim of this study was to compare the ability of common dietary antioxidants, belonging to the phenolics, with that of ascorbic acid at reducing nitrite to nitric oxide under conditions simulating those occurring in the upper gastrointestinal tract. Four phenolic acids were tested alongside ascorbic acid in two different concentrations: caffeic acid, ferulic acid, chlorogenic acid, and gallic acid. Phenolic acids occur in most fruits, vegetables, and dicotylenous plants either in free or conjugated form. Caffeic and ferulic acids are hydroxycinnamates occurring in fruits and vegetables; chlorogenic acid, an ester of caffeic acid and quinic acid, is abundant in coffee and apples; meanwhile, gallic acid is a major building block in the synthesis of tannins, which are abundant and confer their astringent properties to tea and red wines ^(130, 131). Ascorbic acid, which is actively secreted in the stomach, is a major inhibitor of acid catalysed nitrosation in the lumen (148-150). Meanwhile, the potential chemo-protective effect of phenolic compounds against nitrosative stress has been highlighted in the past ⁽¹⁵¹⁻¹⁵³⁾. Previous studies investigated the nitrosation inhibiting potential of dietary phenolics in single-phase systems, based on their nitric oxide promoting abilities ^(154, 155). However, recent studies have demonstrated that high nitric oxide production in the presence of lipids is the main cause for the transfer of the nitrosative stress from the aqueous to the lipid compartment, an issue relevant to transfer of nitrosation to the gastric epithelium⁽¹⁵⁶⁾.

The present experiments compared the nitric oxide generating abilities of the four phenolic acids with ascorbic acid. The addition of nitrite (100μ M) to the simulated gastric juice containing 1mM NaSCN and low concentration ascorbic acid (250μ M) caused a rapid rise in nitric oxide to 23μ M followed by a fall in nitric oxide accompanied by an initial fall in oxygen. At high concentration ascorbic acid (2000μ M) increased nitric oxide to 63μ M which was maintained and accompanied by the complete depletion of oxygen. When the

Chapter 3

low dose ascorbic acid experiment was repeated under anaerobic conditions, the nitric oxide reached 89.5µM and was maintained at this level. The rapid rise and then fall of nitric oxide with low dose ascorbic acid in the presence of oxygen can be explained by the rapid depletion of ascorbic acid due to the nitric oxide reacting with oxygen to re-form nitrosating species, which can react again with the remaining ascorbic acid as shown in Scheme 3.3. This recycling has been shown to lead to the rapid depletion of ascorbic acid under aerobic conditions ^(157, 158). The reaction between nitric oxide and oxygen is second order with respect to nitric oxide and the rapid depletion of ascorbic acid can be explained by the high concentrations of nitric oxide initially produced by the ascorbic acid ^(159, 160).

When the experiment was performed in the presence of low concentration gallic acid and chlorogenic acid, it produced a slower and less marked initial rise in nitric oxide than ascorbic acid (i.e. longer lasting than a burst); however, the nitric oxide level was maintained and there was a less marked early depletion of oxygen. When the low dose gallic acid and chlorogenic acid experiment was repeated under anaerobic conditions, the final concentration obtained was lower in both cases than with the ascorbic acid. The less rapid initial rise in nitric oxide suggests that these phenolic acids have a lower affinity for the nitrosating species than ascorbic acid under similar experimental conditions. Previous studies proposed that the nitric oxide-promoting ability of chlorogenic acid is related to the presence of the catechol group, enabling formation of nitric oxide upon encounter with nitrous acid, and leading to the formation of an intermediate *o*-semiquinone radical able to then react with nitrogen dioxide to generate a nitrated polyphenol end-product, this depleting the system in nitrosating species and limiting further nitric oxide formation scheme 3.3 ⁽¹⁵⁵⁾.



Scheme 3.3: proposed mechanism of nitric oxide release from acidified nitrite in presence of ascorbic acid (*left*) and chlorogenic acid (*right*).⁽¹⁴⁷⁾.

Ferulic acid and caffeic acid produced a different response with respect to both nitric oxide and oxygen than the other antioxidants tested. At both low and high concentrations they produced a rapid but limited rise in nitric oxide to 5μ M at low concentration and 7.5μ M at high concentration, followed by a rapid fall and in both cases with little discernable change in oxygen concentration. In the absence of oxygen the initial rise in nitric oxide was higher (35μ M) but was again followed by a rapid fall with similar pattern with both low and high concentrations. The nitric oxide response observed with caffeic acid and ferulic acid suggests that the nitrite are reduced to nitric oxide but that a subsequent reaction then occurs leading to a fall in nitric oxide. It has been demonstrated that both ferulic and caffeic acids can form nitroso-derivatives upon encounter with acidified nitrite, via preferential reaction between their side chain and the nitrosating species, with limited or no nitric oxide production ⁽¹⁶¹⁻¹⁶⁴⁾. This mechanism is key in ensuring the efficient, stable scavenging of nitrosating species, without generating nitric oxide. According to Peri *et al.*(2005) the limited nitric oxide production by ferulic acid is linked to the absence of a catechol group, preventing the formation of an *o*-semiquinone radical to react with

Chapter 3

nitrogen dioxide ⁽¹⁵⁵⁾. However, this research indicates, however, that the nitric oxide promoting ability of caffeic acid was similar to that of ferulic acid, despite the fact that caffeic acid possesses a catechol group. It is therefore likely that the nitric oxide promoting abilities of phenolic acids may not be entirely based on the presence or lack of a catechol group.

Chapter 4 - Conclusion

General conclusion

Over the last fifty years there has been concern about luminal nitrite as a risk factor for upper gastro-intestinal malignancies ^(49, 78). This has arisen from evidence that salivary nitrite generates nitrosating species and nitric oxide when encountering acidic gastric juice ^(49, 78, 100)

Therefore it was important to study the influence of ascorbic acid, sodium thiocyanate, oxygen, and pH on nitrite chemistry in the simulated GOJ environment. It was also relevant to investigate the effect of other dietary antioxidants such as ferulic acid, caffeic acid, gallic acid, and chlorogenic acid on the nitrite chemistry under conditions simulating the lumen at the GOJ.

Previous studies both in the simulated bench-top system and *in situ* have examined the fate of salivary nitrite when it encounters acidic gastric juice ^(48, 103, 104). This study, in accordance with the literature, has demonstrated that nitrite in the simulated GOJ environment is rapidly converted to nitric oxide in the presence of ascorbic acid ^(50, 53, 104). This is due to fact that only a very limited amount of nitric oxide is produced in the absence of ascorbic acid. Thus ascorbic acid is effectively reducing the nitrosating species to nitric oxide and in the process is oxidized to dehydroascorbic acid. However, the presence of oxygen reduces the efficacy of ascorbic acid because nitric oxide can react with dissolved oxygen to reform nitrosating species. The recycling of nitric oxide means more ascorbic acid at low or medium concentrations is an important controlling factor for the recycling processes, while with higher concentrations of ascorbic acid dissolved oxygen in the system was the main factor controlling the recycling pathway. These findings further support previous observations that nitric oxide recycling is maintained until either the ascorbic acid or oxygen is depleted ⁽¹⁰⁴⁾.

Chapter 4

The present study also demonstrated that the pH of the simulated gastric juice had a clear effect on the rate of nitric oxide production in the presence of ascorbic acid. The nitric oxide concentration in a solution of nitrite containing ascorbic acid is inversely related to the pH, being greatest at the lowest pH of 1.5. The presence of sodium thiocyanate in the simulated gastric juice also enhances the conversion of nitrite to nitric oxide and increases the ascorbic acid consumption. Moreover, the absence of oxygen in the system markedly increases nitric oxide concentration and also resulted in ascorbic acid being present throughout the experiment.

This study has demonstrated a different pattern of nitric oxide production from acidified nitrite in the presence of a range of dietary phenolics concentrations compared with ascorbic acid under conditions simulating the GOJ. Ferulic and caffeic acids produced only a small increase in nitric oxide, which was not sustained under both aerobic and anaerobic conditions. However, unlike ferulic and caffeic acids, gallic and chlorogenic acids produced a much more marked rise in nitric oxide which remained elevated under both aerobic and anaerobic and anaerobic conditions. In contrast, ascorbic acid produced a strong increase in nitric oxide production, which was followed by a clear fall under aerobic conditions. However, with high concentration of ascorbic acid and under anaerobic conditions, nitric oxide was sustained throughout the duration of experiment.

In summary, nitric oxide has numerous potential effects in the mediation of physiological and pathological mechanisms. It remains to be seen whether the generation of nitric oxide at the GOJ and the factors we have demonstrated to influence this are involved in the high incidence of disturbed physiology and pathology occurring at this anatomical site.

Further studies are required to investigate the biological significance of the nitric oxide generated at the GOJ. In addition, it may be important to study the effect of the various dietary anti-oxidants in modifying any biological effects.

References

List of References

1. Sinnatamby CS. Last's anatomy: regional and applied. 11 ed. Edinburgh Elsevier/Churchill Livingstone; 2006.

2. Seeley RR. Essentials of anatomy and physiology. 4 ed. New York; London: McGraw-Hill; 2007.

3. Gosling JA. Human anatomy: color atlas and textbook 5ed. London Mosby Elsevier; 2008.

4. Human stomach structure [database on the Internet]. 2003 [cited 3 December 2008]. Available from: www.britannica.com/EBchecked/topic-art/567085...

Pocock G. Human physiology: the basis of medicine 4 ed. Oxford University Press
 2006.

6. Young B. Wheater's functional histology: a text and colour atlas 4ed. Edinburgh: Churchill Livingstone; 2000.

7. Germann WJ. Principles Of Human Physiology. 11 ed. San Francisco, Calif.; London Pearson Benjamin Cummings; 2005.

8. Muir R. Muir's textbook of pathology/ edited by David A Levison, et al. 14 ed. London: Arnold; 2008.

9. Underwood JCE. General and systematic pathology. 4 ed. Edinburgh: Churchill Livingstone; 2004.

10. Woolf N. Pathology: basic and systemic London W.B. Saunders; 1998.

11. Lauren P. The two histological main types of gastric carcinoma: diffuse and socalled intestinal- type carcinoma. An attempt at a histo- clinical classification. Acta Pathol Microbiol Scand 1965; 64:31-49.

12. Sipponen P, Hyvärinen H, Seppälä K, Blaser M. Review article: Pathogenesis of the transformation from gastritis to malignancy. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 1998; 12 (Supplement 1) 61-71.

13. Corley D, Kubo A. Influence of site classification on cancer incidence rates: an analysis of gastric cardia carcinomas. J Natl Cancer Inst 2004; 96(18):1383-7.

McColl KE. Cancer of the gastric cardia. Best Pract Res Clin Gastroenterol 2006;
 20(4):687-96.

15. Crane S, Richard Locke Gr, Harmsen W, Diehl N, Zinsmeister A, Joseph Melton Lr, et al. The changing incidence of oesophageal and gastric adenocarcinoma by anatomic sub-site. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2007; 25(4):447-53.

16. Blot W, Devesa S, Kneller R, Fraumeni JJ. Rising incidence of adenocarcinoma of the esophagus and gastric cardia. JAMA 1991; 265(10):1287-9.

17. Botterweck A, Schouten L, Volovics A, Dorant E, Van Den Brandt P. Trends in incidence of adenocarcinoma of the oesophagus and gastric cardia in ten European countries. Int J Epidemiol 2000; 29(4):645-54.

18. Powell J, McConkey C, Gillison E, Spychal R. Continuing rising trend in oesophageal adenocarcinoma. Int J Cancer 2002; 102(4):422-7.

19. Lagergren J. Etiology and risk factors for oesophageal adenocarcinoma: possibilities for chemoprophylaxis? Best Pract Res Clin Gastroenterol 2006; 20(5):803-12.

20. Day DW, Jass JR, Price AB, etal. Morson and Dawson's Gastrointestinal Pathology. 4 ed. Malden, Mass; Oxford: Blackwell Science; 2003.

21. Powell J, McConkey C. The rising trend in oesophageal adenocarcinoma and gastric cardia. Eur J Cancer Prev 1992; 1(3):265-9.

22. Forman D, Burley V. Gastric cancer: global pattern of the disease and an overview of environmental risk factors. Best Pract Res Clin Gastroenterol 2006; 20(4):633-49.

23. El-Serag H, Mason A, Petersen N, Key C. Epidemiological differences between adenocarcinoma of the oesophagus and adenocarcinoma of the gastric cardia in the USA. Gut 2002; 50(3):368-72.

24. Roder DM. The epidemiology of gastric cancer. Gastric Cancer 2002; 5 suppl 1:5-11.

25. Devesa S, Blot W, Fraumeni JJ. Changing patterns in the incidence of esophageal and gastric carcinoma in the United States. Cancer 1998; 83(10):2049-53.

26. McKinney A, Sharp L, Macfarlane G, Muir C. Oesophageal and gastric cancer in Scotland 1960-90. Br J Cancer 1995; 71(2):411-5.

27. Powell J, McConkey C. Increasing incidence of adenocarcinoma of the gastric cardia and adjacent sites. Br J Cancer 1990; 62(3):440-3.

28. Fischermann K, Bech I, Andersen B. Diagnostic value of the augmented histamine test in cancer of the upper part of the stomach. Scand J Gastroenterol 1969; 4:517-9.

29. Hansen S, Vollset S, Melby K. Gastric mucosal atrophy is a strong predictor of non- cardia gastric cancer but not of cardia cancer Gastroenterology 1998; 114(4):A606-A.

30. MacDonald WC. Clinical and pathological features of adenocarcinoma of the gastric cardia. Cancer 1972; 29:724-32.

31. Uemura N, Okamoto S, Yamamoto S. Helicobacter pylori infection and the development of gastric cancer. N Engl J Med 2001; 345:784-9.

32. Crew KD, Neugut AI. Epidemiology of gastric cancer. World J Gastroenterol 2006; 12(3):354-62.

33. Smith M, Hold G, Tahara E, El-Omar E. Cellular and molecular aspects of gastric cancer. World J Gastroenterol 2006; 12(19):2979-90.

34. Lagergren J. Adenocarcinoma of oesophagus: what exactly is the size of the problem and who is at risk? Gut 2005; 54 Suppl 1:1-5.

35. Lagergren J, Bergström R, Lindgren A, Nyrén O. Symptomatic gastroesophageal reflux as a risk factor for esophageal adenocarcinoma. N Engl J Med 1999; 340(11):825-31.

36. Tytgat G, Bartelink H, Bernards R, Giaccone G, van LJ, Offerhaus G, et al. Cancer of the esophagus and gastric cardia: recent advances. Dis Esophagus 2004; 17(1):10-26.

37. Ye W, Chow W, Lagergren J, Yin L, Nyrén O. Risk of adenocarcinomas of the esophagus and gastric cardia in patients with gastroesophageal reflux diseases and after antireflux surgery. Gastroenterology 2001; 121(6):1286-93.

38. Fletcher J, Wirz A, Henry E, McColl K. Studies of acid exposure immediately above the gastro-oesophageal squamocolumnar junction: evidence of short segment reflux. Gut 2004; 53(2):168-73.

39. Chow W, Blaser M, Blot W, Gammon M, Vaughan T, Risch H, et al. An inverse relation between cagA+ strains of Helicobacter pylori infection and risk of esophageal and gastric cardia adenocarcinoma. Cancer Res 1998; 58(4):588-90.

40. Helicobacter, and, Cancer, Collaborative, Group. Gastric cancer and Helicobacter pylori: a combined analysis of 12 case control studies nested within prospective cohorts. Gut 2001; 49(3):347-53.

41. Ye W, Held M, Lagergren J, Engstrand L, Blot W, McLaughlin J, et al. Helicobacter pylori infection and gastric atrophy: risk of adenocarcinoma and squamouscell carcinoma of the esophagus and adenocarcinoma of the gastric cardia. J Intern Med 2004; 96(5):388-96.

42. Richter J, Falk G, Vaezi M. Helicobacter pylori and gastroesophageal reflux disease: the bug may not be all bad. Am J Gastroenterol 1998; 93(10):1800-2.

43. Ekström A, Held M, Hansson L, Engstrand L, Nyrén O. Helicobacter pylori in gastric cancer established by CagA immunoblot as a marker of past infection. Gastroenterology 2001; 121(4):784-91.

44. Hansen S, Melby K, Aase S. Gastric phenotype associated with cardia cancer indicate dual aetiology Gut 2005; 54(suppl 11):A-37.

45. Hansen S, Melby K, Aase S, Jellum E, Vollset S. Helicobacter pylori infection and risk of cardia cancer and non-cardia gastric cancer. A nested case-control study. Scand J Gastroenterol 1999; 34(4):353-60.

46. Hansen S, Vollset S, Derakhshan M, Fyfe V, Melby K, Aase S, et al. Two distinct aetiologies of cardia cancer; evidence from premorbid serological markers of gastric atrophy and Helicobacter pylori status. Gut 2007; 56(7):918-25.

47. Fletcher J, Wirz A, Young J, Vallance R, McColl K. Unbuffered highly acidic gastric juice exists at the gastroesophageal junction after a meal. Gastroenterology 2001; 121(4):775-83.

48. Suzuki H, Iijima K, Moriya A, McElroy K, Scobie G, Fyfe V, et al. Conditions for acid catalysed luminal nitrosation are maximal at the gastric cardia. Gut 2003; 52(8):1095-101.

49. Mirvish S. Role of N-nitroso compounds (NOC) and N-nitrosation in etiology of gastric, esophageal, nasopharyngeal and bladder cancer and contribution to cancer of known exposures to NOC. Cancer Lett 1995; 93(1):17-48.

50. Moriya A, Grant J, Mowat C, Williams C, Carswell A, Preston T, et al. In vitro studies indicate that acid catalysed generation of N-nitrosocompounds from dietary nitrate will be maximal at the gastro-oesophageal junction and cardia. Scand J Gastroenterol 2002; 37(3):253-61.

51. Sasajima K, Kawachi T, Matsukura N, Sano T, Sugimura T. Intestinal metaplasia and adenocarcinoma induced in the stomach of rats by N-propyl-N'-nitro-N-nitrosoguanidine. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol 1979; 94(2):201-6.

52. Archer M, Tannenbaum S, Fan T, Weisman M. Reaction of nitrite with ascorbate and its relation to nitrosamine formation. J Natl Cancer Inst 1975; 54(5):1203-5.

53. Iijima K, Grant J, McElroy K, Fyfe V, Preston T, McColl K. Novel mechanism of nitrosative stress from dietary nitrate with relevance to gastro-oesophageal junction cancers. Carcinogenesis 2003; 24(12):1951-60.

54. Schorah C, Sobala G, Sanderson M, Collis N, Primrose J. Gastric juice ascorbic acid: effects of disease and implications for gastric carcinogenesis. Am J Clin Nutr 1991; 53 (1Suppl):287S-93S.

55. Iijima K, Henry E, Moriya A, Wirz A, Kelman A, McColl K. Dietary nitrate generates potentially mutagenic concentrations of nitric oxide at the gastroesophageal junction. Gastroenterology 2002; 122(5):1248-57.

56. Lundberg J, Weitzberg E, Lundberg J, Alving K. Intragastric nitric oxide production in humans: measurements in expelled air. Gut 1994; 35(11):1543-6.

57. McKnight G, Smith L, Drummond R, Duncan C, Golden M, Benjamin N. Chemical synthesis of nitric oxide in the stomach from dietary nitrate in humans. Gut 1997; 40(2):211-4.

58. Felley-Bosco E. Role of nitric oxide in genotoxicity: implication for carcinogenesis. Cancer Metastasis Rev 1998; 17(1):25-37.

59. Laval F, Wink D, Laval J. A discussion of mechanisms of NO genotoxicity: implication of inhibition of DNA repair proteins. Rev Physiol Biochem Pharmacol 1997; 131:175-91.

60. Liu X, Miller M, Joshi M, Thomas D, Lancaster J. Accelerated reaction of nitric oxide with O_2 within the hydrophobic interior of biological membranes. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the USA 1998; 95(5):2175-9.

61. Wink D, Darbyshire J, Nims R, et a. Reaction of the bioregulatory agent nitric oxide in oxygenated aqueous media-determination of the kinetics for oxidation and nitrosation by intermediates generated in the NO/O_2 reaction. Chem Res Toxicol 1993; 6:23-7.

62. Jaiswal M, LaRusso N, Burgart L, Gores G. Inflammatory cytokines induce DNA damage and inhibit DNA repair in cholangiocarcinoma cells by a nitric oxide-dependent mechanism. Cancer Res 2000; 60(1):184-90.

63. Culotta E, Koshland DJ. NO news is good news. Science 1992; 258(5090):1862-5.

64. Ignarro L. Endothelium-derived nitric oxide: pharmacology and relationship to the actions of organic nitrate esters Pharm Res 1989; 6:651-9.

65. Moncada S, Palmer R, Higgs E. Nitric oxide: physiology, pathophysiology, and pharmacology. Pharmacol Rev 1991; 43(2):109-42.

66. Björne HH, Petersson J, Phillipson M, Weitzberg E, Holm L, Lundberg J. Nitrite in saliva increases gastric mucosal blood flow and mucus thickness. J Clin Invest 2004; 113(1):106-14.

67. Gladwin M. Haldane, hot dogs, halitosis, and hypoxic vasodilation: the emerging biology of the nitrite anion. J Clin Invest 2004; 113(1):19-21.

68. Tøttrup A, Ny L, Alm P, Larsson B, Forman A, Andersson K. The role of the Larginine/nitric oxide pathway for relaxation of the human lower oesophageal sphincter. Acta Physiol Scand 1993; 149(4):451-9.

69. Dykhuizen R, Fraser A, McKenzie H, Golden M, Leifert C, Benjamin N. Helicobacter pylori is killed by nitrite under acidic conditions. Gut 1998; 42(3):334-7.

70. Forte P, Dykhuizen R, Milne E, McKenzie A, Smith C, Benjamin N. Nitric oxide synthesis in patients with infective gastroenteritis. Gut 1999; 45(3):355-61.

71. McKnight G, Smith L, Drummond R, Duncan C, Golden M, Benjamin N. Chemical synthesis of nitric oxide in the stomach from dietary nitrate in humans. Gut 1997; 40(2):211-4.

72. Gross S, Wolin M. Nitric oxide: pathophysiological mechanisms. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1995; 57:737-69.

73. Wink D, Mitchell J. Chemical biology of nitric oxide: Insights into regulatory, cytotoxic, and cytoprotective mechanisms of nitric oxide. Free Radic Biol Med 1998; 25:434-56.

74. Marletta M, Yoon P, Iyengar R, Leaf C, Wishnok J. Macrophage oxidation of Larginine to nitrite and nitrate: nitric oxide is an intermediate. Biochemistry 1988; 27(24):8706-11.

75. Shultz P, Tayeh M, Marletta M, Raij L. Synthesis and action of nitric oxide in rat glomerular mesangial cells. Am J Physiol 1991; 261:F600-6.

76. Liu R, Hotchkiss J. Potential genotoxicity of chronically elevated nitric oxide: a review. Mutat Res 1995; 339(2):73-89.

77. Kugler P, Drenckhahn D. Intrinsic source of stomach NO. Nature 1994; 370(6484):25-6.

78. Leach S. Mechanisms of endogenous N-nitrosation. Hill J, editor. Chichester, England: Ellis Horwood; 1988.

79. Bartholomew B, Hill M. The pharmacology of dietary nitrate and the origin of urinary nitrate. Food Chem Toxicol 1984; 22(10):789-95.

80. Forman D, Al-Dabbagh S, Doll R. Nitrates, nitrites and gastric cancer in Great Britain. Nature 1985; 313(6004):620-5.

81. Bos P, Van den Brandt P, Wedel M, Ockhuizen T. The reproducibility of the conversion of nitrate to nitrite in human saliva after a nitrate load. Food Chem Toxicol 1988; 26(2):93-7.

82. Gangolli S, Van den Brandt P, Feron V, Janzowsky C, Koeman J, Speijers G, et al. Nitrate, nitrite and N-nitroso compounds. Eur J Pharmacol 1994; 292(1):1-38.

83. Granli T, Dahl R, Brodin P, Bøckman O. Nitrate and nitrite concentrations in human saliva: variations with salivary flow-rate. Food Chem Toxicol 1989; 27(10):675-80.

84. Walker R. Nitrates, nitrites and N-nitrosocompounds: a review of the occurrence in food and diet and the toxicological implications. Food Addit Contam 1990; 7(6):717-68.

85. Ruddell W, Blendis L, Walters C. Nitrite and thiocyanate in the fasting and secreting stomach and in saliva. Gut 1977; 18(1):73-7.

86. van Maanen J, van Geel A, Kleinjans J. Modulation of nitrate-nitrite conversion in the oral cavity. Cancer Detect Prev 1996; 20(6):590-6.

87. McColl K. When saliva meets acid: chemical warfare at the oesophagogastric junction. Gut 2005; 54(1):1-3.

88. Mowat C, Carswell A, Wirz A, McColl K. Omeprazole and dietary nitrate independently affect levels of vitamin C and nitrite in gastric juice. Gastroenterology 1999; 116(4):813-22.

89. Boulos P, Whitfield P, Dave M, Faber R, Hobsley M. Thiocyanate as a marker of saliva in gastric juice? Gut 1980; 21(1):18-22.

90. Boyland E, Walker S. Effect of thiocyanate on nitrosation of amines. Nature 1974;248(449):601-2.

91. Da Silva G, Kennedy E, Dlugogorski B. Effect of added nucleophilic species on the rate of primary amino acid nitrosation. J Am Chem Soc 2005; 127(11):3664-5.

92. Fan T, Tannenbaum S. Factors influencing the rate of formation of nitrosomorpholine from morpholine and nitrite: acceleration by thiocyanate and other anions. J Agric Food Chem 1973; 21(2):237-40.

93. Barylko-Pikielna N, Pangborn R. Effect of cigarette smoking on urinary and salivary thiocyanates. Arch Environ Health 1968; 17(5):739-45.

94. Sasajima K, Kawachi T, N. M, Sano T, Sugimura T. Intestinal metaplasia and adenocarcinoma induced in the stomach of rats by N-propyl-N'-nitro-N-nitrosoguanidine. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol 1979; 94(2):201-6.

95. Bartsch H, Ohshima H, Pignatelli B. Inhibitors of endogenous nitrosation.
Mechanisms and implications in human cancer prevention. Mutat Res 1988; 202(2):307-24.

96. Leaf C, Vecchio A, Roe D, Hotchkiss J. Influence of ascorbic acid dose on Nnitrosoproline formation in humans. Carcinogenesis 1987; 8(6):791-5.

97. Mirvish S, Salmasi S, Cohen S, Patil K, Mahboubi E. Liver and forestomach tumors and other forestomach lesions in rats treated with morpholine and sodium nitrite, with and without sodium ascorbate. J Natl Cancer Inst 1983; 71(1):81-5.

98. Mirvish S. Blocking the formation of N-nitroso compounds with ascorbic acid in vitro and in vivo. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1975; 258:175-80.

99. Mirvish S. Inhibition by vitamins C and E of in vivo nitrosation and vitamin C occurrence in the stomach. Eur J Cancer Prev 1996; 5(Suppl 1):131-6.

100. Mirvish S, Grandjean A, Reimers K, Connelly B, Chen S, Gallagher J, et al. Dosing time with ascorbic acid and nitrate, gum and tobacco chewing, fasting, and other factors affecting N-nitrosoproline formation in healthy subjects taking proline with a standard meal. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 1995; 4(7):775-82.

101. Tannenbaum S, Wishnok J, Leaf C. Inhibition of nitrosamine formation by ascorbic acid. Am J Clin Nutr 1991; 53(1 Suppl):247S-50S.

102. Bunton C. Oxidation of ascorbic acid and similar reductones by nitrous acid. Nature 1959; 4655:163-6.

103. Suzuki H, Iijima K, Scobie G, Fyfe V, McColl K. Nitrate and nitrosative chemistry within Barrett's oesophagus during acid reflux. Gut 2005; 54(11):1527-35.

104. Iijima K, Fyfe V, McColl K. Studies of nitric oxide generation from salivary nitrite in human gastric juice. Scand J Gastroenterol 2003; 38(3):246-52.

105. Block G. Epidemiologic evidence regarding vitamin C and cancer. Am J Clin Nutr 1991; 54(6 suppl):1310S-4S.

106. Arrigoni O, De Tullio M. Ascorbic acid: much more than just an antioxidant. Biochim Biophys Acta 2002; 1569(1-3):1-9.

107. Hwang H, Dwyer J, Russell R. Diet, Helicobacter pylori infection, food preservation and gastric cancer risk: are there new roles for preventative factors? Nutr Rev 1994; 52(3):75-83.

108. Zhang Z, Farthing M. The roles of vitamin C in Helicobacter pylori associated gastric carcinogenesis. Chin J Dig Dis 2005; 6(2):53-8.

109. Bates C. Bioavailability of vitamin C. eur J Clin Nutr 1997; 51(Supp 1):S28-33.

110. Rathbone B, Johnson A, Wyatt J, Kelleher J, Heatley R, Losowsky M. Ascorbic acid: a factor concentrated in human gastric juice. Clin Sci (Lond) 1989; 76(3):237-41.

111. Block G. Vitamin C and cancer prevention: the epidemiologic evidence. Am J Clin Nutr 1991; 53(1 Suppl):270S-82S.

112. Licht W, Tannenbaum S, Deen W. Use of ascorbic acid to inhibit nitrosation: kinetic and mass transfer considerations for an in vitro system. Carcinogenesis 1988; 9(3):365-72.

113. Sobala G, Schorah C, Sanderson M, Dixon M, Tompkins D, Godwin P, et al. Ascorbic acid in the human stomach. Gastroenterology 1989; 97(2):357-63.

114. Waring A, Drake I, Schorah C, White K, Lynch D, Axon A, et al. Ascorbic acid and total vitamin C concentrations in plasma, gastric juice, and gastrointestinal mucosa: effects of gastritis and oral supplementation. Gut 1996; 38(2):171-6.

115. Sobala G, Pignatelli B, Schorah C, Bartsch H, Sanderson M, Dixon M, et al. Levels of nitrite, nitrate, N-nitroso compounds, ascorbic acid and total bile acids in gastric juice of patients with and without precancerous conditions of the stomach. Carcinogenesis 1991; 12(2):193-8.

116. Zhang Z, Patchett S, Perrett D, Katelaris P, Domizio P, Farthing M. The relation between gastric vitamin C concentrations, mucosal histology, and CagA seropositivity in the human stomach. Gut 1998; 43(3):322-6.

117. Correa P, Malcom G, Schmidt B, Fontham E, Ruiz B, Bravo J, et al. Review article: Antioxidant micronutrients and gastric cancer. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 1998; 12(Suppl 1):73-82.

118. Shklar G. Mechanisms of cancer inhibition by anti-oxidant nutrients. Oral Oncol 1998; 34(1):24-9.

119. Awad H, Stanbury D. Autoxidation of NO in aqueous solution. Int J Chem Kinet 1993; 25:375-81.

120. Takahama U, Hirota S, Yamamoto A, Oniki T. Oxygen uptake during the mixing of saliva with ascorbic acid under acidic conditions: possibility of its occurrence in the stomach. FEBS Lett 2003; 550(1-3):64-68.

121. Combet E, Paterson S, Iijima K, Winter J, Mullen W, Crozier A, et al. Fat transforms ascorbic acid from inhibiting to promoting acid-catalysed N-nitrosation. Gut 2007; 56(12):1678-84.

122. Ford P, Wink D, Stanbury D. Autoxidation kinetics of aqueous nitric oxide FEBS Lett 1993; 326(1-3):1-3.

123. Ekström A, Serafini M, Nyrén O, Hansson L, Ye W, Wolk A. Dietary antioxidant intake and the risk of cardia cancer and noncardia cancer of the intestinal and diffuse types: a population-based case-control study in Sweden. Int J Cancer 2000; 87(1):133-40.

124. Mayne S, Risch H, Dubrow R, Chow W, Gammon M, Vaughan T, et al. Nutrient intake and risk of subtypes of esophageal and gastric cancer. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 2001; 10(10):1055-62.

125. Terry P, Terry J, Wolk A. Fruit and vegetable consumption in the prevention of cancer: an update. J Intern Med 2001; 250(4):280-90.

126. López M, Martínez F, Del Valle C, Ferrit M, Luque R. Study of phenolic compounds as natural antioxidants by a fluorescence method. Talanta 2003; 60(2-3):609-16.

127. Oldreive C, Zhao K, Paganga G, Halliwell B, Rice-Evans C. Inhibition of nitrous acid-dependent tyrosine nitration and DNA base deamination by flavonoids and other phenolic compounds. Chem Res Toxicol 1998; 11(12):1574-9.

128. Rice-Evans C, Miller N, Paganga G. Structure-antioxidant activity relationships of flavonoids and phenolic acids. Free Radic Biol Med 1996; 20(7):933-56.

129. Salah N, Miller N, Paganga G, Tijburg L, Bolwell G, Rice-Evans C. Polyphenolic flavanols as scavengers of aqueous phase radicals and as chain-breaking antioxidants. Arch Biochem Biophys 1995; 322(2):339-46.

130. Manach C, Scalbert A, Morand C, Rémésy C, Jiménez L. Polyphenols: food sources and bioavailability. Am J Clin Nutr 2004; 79(5):727-47.

131. Morton L, Abu-Amsha CR, Puddey I, Croft K. Chemistry and biological effects of dietary phenolic compounds: relevance to cardiovascular disease. Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol 2000; 27(3):152-9.

132. Ohsawa K, Nakagawa S, Kimura M, Shimada C, Tsuda S, Kabasawa K, et al. Detection of in vivo genotoxicity of endogenously formed N-nitroso compounds and suppression by ascorbic acid, teas and fruit juices. Mutat Res 2003; 539(1-2):65-76.

133. Tanaka K, Hayatsu T, Negishi T, Hayatsu H. Inhibition of N-nitrosation of secondary amines in vitro by tea extracts and catechins. Mutat Res 1998; 412(1):91-8.

134. Hertog M, Feskens E, Hollman P, Katan M, Kromhout D. Dietary antioxidant flavonoids and risk of coronary heart disease: the Zutphen Elderly Study. Lancet 1993; 342(8878):1007-11.

135. Hertog M, Sweetnam P, Fehily A, Elwood P, Kromhout D. Antioxidant flavonols and ischemic heart disease in a Welsh population of men: the Caerphilly Study. Am J Clin Nutr 1997; 65(5):1489-94.

136. Renaud S, de Lorgeril M. The French paradox: dietary factors and cigarette smoking-related health risks. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1993; 686:299-309.

137. Terry P, Lagergren J, Ye W, Nyrén O, Wolk A. Antioxidants and cancers of the esophagus and gastric cardia. Int J Cancer 2000; 87(5):750-4.

138. Kono Y, Shibata H, Kodama Y, Sawa Y. Suppression of the N-nitrosating reaction by chlorogenic acid. Biochem J 1995; 312(3):947-53.

139. Kuenzig W, Chau J, Norkus E, Holowaschenko H, Newmark H, Mergens W, et al. Caffeic and ferulic acid as blockers of nitrosamine formation. Carcinogenesis 1984; 5(3):309-13.

140. Rao G, Osborn J, Adatia M. Drug-nitrite interactions in human saliva: effects of food constituents on carcinogenic N-nitrosamine formation. J Dent Res 1982; 61(6):768-71.

141. Kono Y, Shibata H, Kodama Y, Sawa Y. The suppression of the N-nitrosating reaction by chlorogenic acid. Biochem J 1995; 312(3):947-53.

142. Stich H, Dunn B, Pignatelli B, Ohshima H, Bartsch H. Dietary phenolics and betel nut extracts as modifiers of N-nitrosation in rat and man. IARC Sci Publ 1984; 57:213-22.

143. Stich H, Ohshima H, Pignatelli B, Michelon J, Bartsch H. Inhibitory effect of betel nut extracts on endogenous nitrosation in humans. J Natl Cancer Inst 1983; 70(6):1047-50.

144. Mowat C, Carswell A, Wirz A, McColl K. Omeprazole and dietary nitrate independently affect levels of vitamin C and nitrite in gastric juice. Gastroenterology 1999; 116(4):813-22.

145. Sanderson M, Schorah C. Measurement of ascorbic acid and dehydroascorbic acid in gastric juice by HPLC. Biomed Chromatogr. 1987; 2(5):197-202.

146. Mowat C, Carswell A, Wirz A, McColl K. Omeprazole and dietary nitrate independently affect levels of vitamin C and nitrite in gastric juice. Gastroenterology 1999; 116(4):813-22.

147. Peri L, Pietraforte D, Scorza G, Napolitano A, Fogliano V, Minetti M. Apples increase nitric oxide production by human saliva at the acidic pH of the stomach: a new biological function for polyphenols with a catechol group? Free Radic Biol Med 2005; 39(5):668-81.

148. Tannenbaum SR, Wishnok JS, Leaf CD. Inhibition of Nitrosamine Formation by Ascorbic-Acid. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition 1991 Jan; 53(1):S247-S50.

149. Mirvish SS. Blocking Formation of N-Nitroso Compounds with Ascorbic-Acid Invitro and Invivo. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences 1975; 258(SEP30):175-80.

150. Leaf CD, Vecchio AJ, Roe DA, Hotchkiss JH. Influence of Ascorbic-Acid Dose on N-Nitrosoproline Formation in Humans. Carcinogenesis 1987 Jun; 8(6):791-5.

151. Challis BC. Rapid Nitrosation of Phenols and Its Implications for Health Hazards from Dietary Nitrites. Nature 1973; 244(5416):466-.

152. Ohsawa K, Nakagawa S, Kimura M, Shimada C, Tsuda S, Kabasawa K, et al. Detection of in vivo genotoxicity of endogenously formed N-nitroso compounds and suppression by ascorbic acid, teas and fruit juices. Mutation Research-Genetic Toxicology and Environmental Mutagenesis 2003 Aug; 539(1-2):65-76.

153. Tanaka K, Hayatsu T, Negishi T, Hayatsu H. Inhibition of N-nitrosation of secondary amines in vitro by tea extracts and catechins. Mutation Research-Genetic Toxicology and Environmental Mutagenesis 1998; 412(1):91-8.

154. Gago B, Lundberg JO, Barbosa RM, Laranjinha J. Red wine-dependent reduction of nitrite to nitric oxide in the stomach. Free Radical Biology and Medicine 2007; 43:1233-42.

155. Peri L, Pietraforte D, Scorza G, Napolitano A, Fogliano V, Minetti M. Apples increase nitric oxide production by human saliva at the acidic pH of the stomach: A new biological function for polyphenols with a catechol group? Free Radical Biology and Medicine 2005; 39(5):668-81.

156. Combet E, Paterson S, Iijima K, Winter J, Mullen W, Crozier A, et al. Fat transforms ascorbic acid from inhibiting to promoting acid-catalysed N-nitrosation. Gut 2007; 56:1678-84.

157. Iijima K, Grant J, McElroy K, Fyfe V, Preston T, McColl KEL. Novel mechanism of nitrosative stress from dietary nitrate with relevance to gastro-oesophageal junction cancers. Carcinogenesis 2003; 24(12):1951-60.

158. Suzuki H, Iijima K, Moriya A, McElroy K, Scobie G, Fyfe V, et al. Conditions for acid catalysed luminal nitrosation are maximal at the gastric cardia. Gut 2003 Aug; 52(8):1095-101.

159. Awad HH, Stanbury DM. Autoxidation of No in Aqueous-Solution. International Journal of Chemical Kinetics 1993 May; 25(5):375-81.

160. Wink DA, Darbyshire JF, Nims RW, Saavedra JE, Ford PC. Reactions of the Bioregulatory Agent Nitric-Oxide in Oxygenated Aqueous-Media - Determination of the Kinetics for Oxidation and Nitrosation by Intermediates Generated in the No/O2 Reaction. Chemical Research in Toxicology 1993 Jan-Feb; 6(1):23-7.

161. Kuenzig W, Chau J, Norkus E, Holowaschenko H, Newmark H, Mergens W, et al. Caffeic and Ferulic Acid as Blockers of Nitrosamine Formation. Carcinogenesis 1984; 5(3):309-13.

162. Napolitano A, d'Ischia M. New insights into the acid-promoted reaction of caffeic acid and its esters with nitrite: Decarboxylation drives chain nitrosation pathways toward novel oxime derivatives and oxidation/fragmentation products thereof. Journal of Organic Chemistry 2002; 67(3):803-10.

163. Rousseau B, Rosazza JPN. Reaction of ferulic acid with nitrite: Formation of 7hydroxy-6-methoxy-1,2(4H)-benzoxazin-4-one. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry 1998; 46(8):3314-7.

164. Cotelle P, Vezin H. Reaction of caffeic acid derivatives with acidic nitrite. Tetrahedron Letters 2001; 42(19):3303-5.